

UNIVERSITY of WASHINGTON



Developing Priorities in Recycling Markets

Prepared by Lars Borson-Paine, Sylvaine Bucher, Kristine Jones, and Becca Walker, graduate students at the University of Washington Evans School of Public Policy and Governance

For the Recycling Development Center

Washington State Department of Ecology Olympia, Washington

July 2023, Publication 23-07-024

Front Matter

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	4
Chapter 1: Project Summary and Research Questions	6
Definition of "recycling markets"	6
Overview of the Washington Recycling Development Center	6
Project context	7
Project overview	7
Chapter 2: Literature Review	8
Background on the circular economy	8
Context for domestic market development	10
Publicly funded recycling market development in the U.S	11
Organizational decision-making	. 13
Decision-making factors and considerations in recycling market development	15
Washington RDC evaluation criteria	18
Chapter 3: Research Methods	. 19
Data acquisition and organization	19
Analysis design	. 21
Limitations and mitigation strategies	22
Chapter 4: Findings	. 24
Factors that influence decision-making and program activities	25
How metrics and qualitative information shape decisions	33
Additional findings: Planning, data processes, and alliances	42
Advice from interviewees	49
Chapter 5: Recommendations	. 52
Recommendation 1: Engage stakeholders in the supply chain	52
Recommendation 2: Rely on allies to expand RDC reach	54
Recommendation 3: Choose material priorities pragmatically	55
Recommendation 4: Develop data processes and standards	55
Recommendation 5: Incorporate equity into decisions	. 56
Appendix 1: Founding Legislation for the Washington Recycling Development Center	. 57
Appendix 2: Key Government Agencies that Focus on Recycling in WA	. 59

Appendix 3: RDC Goals and Draft Success Metrics	
Appendix 4: Interview Protocol	62
Interview Introduction Protocol	62
Interview Questions	63
Interview Closing Protocol	64
Appendix 5: Themes and Codes Used for Interview Analysis	65

Figures

Figure 1: Circular economy system diagram	. 9
Figure 2: Map of interviewees	20
Figure 3: Content of Chapter 4 – Findings	24

Tables

Table 1: Typical objectives and activities for publicly funded centers
--

Acronyms and Abbreviations

AMERIPEN: American Institute for Packaging and the Environment

C&D: Construction and demolition

Centers: Recycling market development centers

CDPHE: Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment

Commerce: Washington Department of Commerce

Ecology: Washington Department of Ecology

EPA: United States Environmental Protection Agency

EPA WARM: United States Environmental Protection Agency Waste Reduction Model

Evans School: University of Washington's Evans School of Public Policy and Governance Student Consulting Lab

GHG: Greenhouse gas

IDEM: Indiana Department of Environmental Protection

ISRI: Institute of Scrap Recycling Industries MI EGLE: Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy MN PCA: Minnesota Pollution Control Agency MO EIERA: Missouri Environmental Improvement & Energy Resources Authority MRF: Materials recovery facility NERC: Northeast Recycling Council OH EPA: Ohio Environmental Protection Agency PA RMC: Pennsylvania Recycling Markets Center **PPW: Phoenix Public Works RDC: Washington Recycling Development Center** RRS: Resource Recycling Systems, operator of NextCycle Colorado SERDC: Southeast Recycling Development Council SC Department of Commerce: South Carolina Department of Commerce SPC: Sustainable Packaging Coalition STAR: State of Texas Alliance for Recycling TCEQ: Texas Commission on Environmental Quality U.S.: United States

Executive Summary

The Washington Recycling Development Center (RDC) is a collaboration of the Washington Departments of Ecology and Commerce with guidance from a 14-member advisory board. The RDC is directed by state law to bolster recycling markets in Washington State.¹ As a relatively small and recently formed (2019) program, the RDC is working to establish methods to prioritize staff time and resources.

To help shape its approach to prioritization, the RDC contracted with the University of Washington's Evans School of Public Policy and Governance Student Consulting Lab (Evans School) for this study. Evans School consultants aimed to answer the following research questions:

- What are effective ways for the RDC to use quantitative metrics and qualitative factors to inform its operations, priorities, and decision-making for market development?
- What experiences of other organizations could inform the RDC's investments?

We started by researching the following topics, as summarized in Chapter 2 – Literature Review:

- The concept of a circular economy
- International context causing the need for domestic recycling market development
- Publicly funded market development centers in the United States (U.S.)
- Organizational decision-making
- Factors that typically influence decisions in recycling market development

We conducted interviews with 19 U.S. organizations, including 14 state- or city-level organizations concerned with recycling market development and 5 related entities. Our data collection and analysis methods are covered in Chapter 3 – Research Methods.

We summarize key takeaways from the interviews in Chapter 4 – Findings. The chapter starts with factors that influence decision-making – including mandates, funding, equity, landscape analysis, and stakeholder engagement. The chapter then details how the following types of decisions are shaped: choosing which recyclable materials to prioritize, how to award grants, and how to communicate with different audiences. Next, the chapter covers how interviewees use comprehensive planning, how they are impacted by challenges with data, and the role of strategic alliances in their programs. Finally, we close the chapter with explicit advice interviewees provided.

Chapter 5 provides recommendations based on our literature review and interview findings. These recommendations are consistent with the RDC's current legislative directives and particularly emphasize partnership-building, data processes, and programmatic decision-making. We recommend that the RDC consider the following elements when choosing which activities and materials to prioritize:

- 1. Engage stakeholders in the recycling supply chain to help shape priorities, invest in impactful projects, and create a network of allies.
- 2. Rely on allies outside the supply chain to expand functional reach, while prioritizing activities that allies cannot undertake.

- 3. Consider the Washington recycling supply chain's capacity, challenges, and needs when choosing which recyclable materials to prioritize.
- 4. Develop strong standards, processes, and systems to mitigate data challenges when relying on quantitative metrics to guide prioritization and operations.
- 5. Incorporate equity into program decisions by developing clear and formal equity-related processes for RDC programs.

Chapter 1: Project Summary and Research Questions

Definition of "recycling markets"

Recyclable materials collected from homes and businesses are typically transported to a materials recovery facility (MRF) to be sorted and baled. From there, the material is purchased – either directly or through a broker – by entities that process it into "feedstock" (e.g., paper is turned into pulp, plastic is turned into pellets, etc.). Feedstock is then used as raw material to manufacture new products. In some cases, recyclable materials are delivered directly from a commercial or industrial business to a processor or manufacturer without going to a MRF.

The term "recycling markets" predominantly refers to processors and manufacturers that purchase materials like paper, cardboard, plastic, glass, and metals, either from a MRF, through a broker, or directly from a business. The term also refers to entities that obtain and use recyclable materials outside of the traditional recycling pathway. For example, some entities acquire, deconstruct, and recycle items like clothing, carpet, furniture, mattresses, electronics, lightbulbs, tires, lumber, concrete, and more.

Overview of the Washington Recycling Development Center

The Washington Recycling Development Center (RDC) was created in 2019 to strengthen recycling markets in Washington State (see Appendix 1 for statute text).² The RDC is a partnership between the Department of Ecology (Ecology) and the Department of Commerce (Commerce), with staff members from both agencies.

While multiple government agencies in Washington focus on various aspects of waste management and recycling, the RDC has a unique focus on developing markets for recyclable materials (see Appendix 2 for details on public agencies that focus on recycling in Washington).

The RDC's founding legislation outlines core duties for each agency in alignment with their strengths and abilities:

- Ecology
 - o Make recommendations on state policies that affect recycling markets
 - Work with stakeholders involved in the recycling market and recyclable materials
 - o Study and share developments in recycling markets
 - o Provide grants or contracts to further develop recycling markets
 - o Provide business or marketing assistance to public and private sector stakeholders
 - o Represent the state in regional and national market development forums
- Commerce
 - Recruit, retain and expand sustainable businesses, and encourage opportunities to transition from a linear to a circular economy
 - Promote manufacturing of recycled commodities and provide assistance to recycling businesses
 - o Promote recycled content for state agency purchases
 - o Support industry-led consortiums that drive innovation and solve key challenges

 Support, promote, and identify research and development related to advancing the circular economy

Since its inception, the RDC has made progress on several fronts. It regularly convenes its advisory board, participates in regional and national conferences, publishes reports on markets for specific recyclable materials, and provides solid waste and recycling data to the advisory board and other interested parties. It meets with processors and manufacturers, facilitates business connections among them, and talks with trade associations about how to boost recycling markets. In 2021, RDC grants funded 13 market development projects for local governments and universities.³ In 2021 and 2022, RDC grants helped establish two market development organizations: <u>NextCycle Washington</u>, which provides technical and financial support for recycling and reuse projects, and the <u>Washington Materials Marketplace</u>, an online platform for businesses to trade recyclable or reusable materials.⁴

Project context

As a relatively small program with limited resources, the RDC must carefully choose activities (e.g., research, grants, presentations) and materials (e.g., paper, plastic, glass) on which to focus. The RDC intends to establish more systematic methods for prioritizing available staff time and resources. To do so, the RDC is exploring various quantitative metrics that may influence prioritization, such as the economic and environmental benefits of increasing recycling for specific types of materials. The RDC is also considering influential non-quantitative factors like Ecology and Commerce priorities, local industry context, and others. Having more structured prioritization processes would help the RDC justify its decision-making and strengthen funding requests.

Project overview

To help shape its approach to prioritization, the RDC contracted with the University of Washington's Evans School of Public Policy and Governance Student Consulting Lab for this study. Evans School consultants gathered and analyzed information about how similar organizations inform their operations, priorities, and decision-making related to recycling market development. Consultants conducted interviews with market development organizations and related entities across the United States (U.S.), with the goal of answering the following research questions:

- What are effective ways for the RDC to use quantitative metrics and qualitative factors to inform its operations, priorities, and decision-making for market development?
- What experiences of other organizations could inform the RDC's investments?

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter summarizes existing literature relevant to the RDC's desire to develop clear evaluative criteria and decision-making processes to foster recycling market development. It includes background on the concept of a circular economy, international context resulting in the need for domestic recycling market development, and an overview of publicly funded market development in the U.S. Additionally, we explored literature on organizational decision-making and factors that typically influence decisions in recycling market development. We identified appropriate resources through both database searches and guidance from the RDC.

Background on the circular economy

The concept of a circular economy underlies recycling market development. A circular economy is an economic system that is regenerative, minimizes waste by design, and improves the environment. It works to reduce litter, toxic chemicals, material going to landfills, and greenhouse gas emissions through development of new uses and markets for recyclable materials. This resilient system stands in contrast to the current linear economic model, in which most resources are extracted from the earth, manufactured into products or packaging, used, then discarded.⁵ In short, a circular economy intends to stop waste from being produced.

This systems concept is based on three principles: eliminate waste, circulate materials at their highest value, and regenerate nature.⁶ Circular economy principles aim to shift the economy towards a focus on sustainability and resource renewal. As such, recycling and robust recycling markets are essential elements of a circular economy.

In general, much of the material in municipal solid waste could be recovered and used for other purposes.⁷ As detailed in Figure 1, a circular economy is a closed-loop model targeting waste prevention at the highest possible levels at all times. In other words, it effectively minimizes negative externalities because:

- 1. Biodegradable materials and nutrients are returned to the Earth to actively regenerate nature (building natural capital and balancing the flow of renewable resources) and
- 2. Products, materials, and technical components are kept in continuous circulation through reuse, repair, remanufacture, and recycling processes (optimizing resource yields).⁸

There are serious critiques of the concept of circularity, including the practical challenges of energy-intensive manufacturing, unintended systems failures, or adverse impacts on climate or ecology.⁹ For example, as Llorach-Massana et al. remarked, "the 100% closed cycle is difficult (or even impossible) to implement. The full waste recovery would require an extraordinary increase of transport and management of goods that are associated with higher energy consumption."¹⁰ Nevertheless, the circular economy framework is an important tool in the effort to regenerate our planet through sustainability.¹¹

Circular economy initiatives are being developed across the globe—from the European Union's Circular Economy Action Plan¹² to the City of Charlotte's Circular Charlotte¹³ to Amsterdam's Circular Strategy 2020-2025¹⁴ to the King County's Zero Waste Plan¹⁵—to challenge the notion that waste is inevitable. At the national level, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency entitled its 2021 National Recycling Strategy "Part One of a Series on Building a Circular Economy for All,"¹⁶ indicating its commitment to the concept. Currently, the RDC works to support innovative actions and encourage opportunities in Washington that will result in positive impacts on the state's circular economy.



Figure 1: Circular economy system diagram. This diagram ("the butterfly diagram") created by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation illustrates the continuous flow of biological materials [left-hand side] and technical materials [right-hand side] in a circular economy.¹⁷

Overview of circular economy transition barriers

States, regions, cities, global think tanks, and advocacy organizations are spearheading circular economy efforts. Yet, the barriers are significant. Organizations like the RDC need to develop approaches to overcome such obstacles.

Some government agencies and solid waste industries have been slow to adopt circular economy principles, evidenced by inadequate capitalization and business planning for a shift away from waste management toward sustainable product development. Examples of barriers include:

- Governments and industries lack recycling technology or infrastructure for waste processing, slowing the change towards new uses for old materials.
- Government programs may lack funds for circular economy initiatives due to competing pressures for scarce resources.

- Circular economy entrepreneurs may not have access to seed money opportunities generated by private industry, academic institutions, or other government agencies.
- Manufacturers and producers do not bear responsibility for the disposal of their products, so they do not have incentive to shift towards sustainable product development.
- Supply chain members benefit from a friendly political and regulatory environment, creating resistance to change in the waste industry.
- Consumers worry about the inconvenience of recycling and reusing materials.¹⁸

While the obstacles confronting circular economy projects are significant, the urgency with which society must act to protect itself from environmental damage demands that we embrace the challenges of circular economy implementation.

Any organization that is shifting from the linear "take-make-use-dispose" model to a circular regenerative growth model must consider technological, policy and regulatory, financial, economic, managerial, measurement system, customer, and social barriers. As such, the RDC will need to strategically overcome barriers across the multiple stages of the shift from status quo to waste minimization.¹⁹ In all aspects of waste management—including the design of new products, financing, evaluation planning, education, retooling recovery, processing, and operations—transforming into a holistic circular economy requires barrier resolution and meaningful measurements.

Context for domestic market development

China's National Sword policy

While recycling market development could be pursued at an international scale, recent events have underscored the need for domestic recycling capacity in the U.S.

Until the mid-2010s many West Coast MRFs sold recyclable materials to processors and manufacturers in China. In 2017, for example, about 70 percent of plastic recyclables from the U.S. were exported to China,²⁰ since China had the willingness to purchase and process these materials at a high market price.²¹ Domestic infrastructure development and maintenance was inadequate for processing the totality of U.S.-generated recyclable materials.

However, in January 2018 the Chinese government enacted the National Sword policy that limited scrap imports. The policy banned post-consumer plastic and mixed paper imports and only allowed other materials with a 0.5 percent contamination rate.²² Contamination refers to anything that makes recyclable material more difficult or impossible to process. Contaminants include food residue, liquids, broken glass, and non-recyclable material. Mixed paper is especially vulnerable to being rendered unusable by contamination. Since the typical U.S. contamination rate is 5-15 percent, the policy effectively prevented Chinese industries from purchasing recyclables from the U.S.²³

National Sword had a profound effect on the export of recyclable materials across the U.S., as the decades-old end markets for these materials were abruptly made unavailable, threatening total collapse of the U.S. recycling market. For example, Republic Services, one of America's largest waste collectors, sold about 35 percent of its recyclables to China in 2017, but only 1 percent in 2018.²⁴ Overall, U.S. scrap exports to China decreased by 38 percent in 2018.²⁵ As MRFs across

the U.S. scrambled to find alternative buyers, prices for recyclable materials plummeted.²⁶ Many recyclables were collected and sent to landfills or no longer collected, while residential recycling rate fees increased. Plastics, specifically, were landfilled at an additional 22.3 percent.²⁷ While prices for recyclable materials have rebounded significantly, they are still below previous levels nationally.²⁸ This rebound reflects increased demand from new recycling markets. While a positive sign, recycling in the U.S. remains in a period of transition.²⁹

Impact on recycling in Washington

The fallout from National Sword greatly impacted recycling within Washington State. Ecology reports that, prior to National Sword, more than 60 percent of Washington recyclables were shipped to China due to the ease of shipping from Washington's ports.³⁰ Following National Sword, Washington's recyclables were still picked up (curbside or drop box), however once processed many of these materials had no viable sales channel, resulting in stockpiles at MRFs.³¹ Mixed paper storage was of particular concern as it could not be stored inside due to fire hazard yet would begin decomposing outside due to the local climate.³² As a result, large MRF operators, such as Waste Management, Inc. and Republic, were granted temporary authorization to landfill hundreds of tons of Washington's recyclable materials.³³ Prices for baled recyclable materials plummeted from between \$95-\$100 per ton in 2017 to approximately \$5 dollars per ton in 2018,³⁴ leading solid waste collection companies to request an unprecedented amount in rate increases from their clients and the Utilities and Transportation Commission.³⁵ It is not expected that China will lower its standards for imported recyclables under National Sword, and MRFs do not currently meet the 0.5 percent contamination standard.³⁶

Publicly funded recycling market development in the U.S.

Across the U.S., a variety of state and city governments have established entities focused on recycling market development. Although these efforts have renewed urgency since China's National Sword policy was passed, some state recycling market development centers (centers) have been operating for decades.³⁷ Many of these longstanding centers were supported by the EPA's Jobs Through Recycling grant program in the 1990s.³⁸

Publicly funded centers are structured in various ways. Most are housed within state or city government, but some are independent non-profits funded by a government agency. For example, the Pennsylvania Recycling Market Development Center is a non-profit funded by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection and headquartered at a public university.

Publicly funded centers focus on a wide range of priorities, influenced by their level of maturity and state or local context. Table 1 provides an overview of the objectives and activities that centers typically pursue.³⁹ Note that some centers address broader circular economy goals, but this table focuses specifically on recycling market development and excludes topics like composting, reuse, and repair.

 Table 1:A Typical objectives and activities for publicly funded centers.
 This table details

 example activities for 6 recycling market development objectives.
 This table details

General objective	Example activities
Increase the value of recyclable materials	 Run public education campaigns to reduce contamination before materials reach MRFs
by reducing contamination ^a	 Provide grants and technical assistance to help MRFs upgrade sorting equipment
	 Advocate for policies that reduce contamination (e.g., multi-stream collection systems)
Support businesses in the recycling supply	 Provide direct funding (e.g., grants or low-interest loans) Promote federal or private funding opportunities
chain (i.e., increase processing of recyclable material	 Provide technical consulting, business consulting, and education (either 1:1 or via events like webinars, workshops, or conferences) Assist with regulatory compliance
into feedstock; help manufacturers adopt	 Connect MRFs, processors, and manufacturers through direct referrals, events, and online marketplace tools
or increase the use of recycled feedstock as	• Support and/or host startup incubator programs (e.g., <u>NextCycle</u> Washington)
raw material in place of virgin materials)	Recruit businesses to relocate to their jurisdiction
Support local governments	 Provide funding and consulting for projects related to recycling market development
Track and report on local recycling	 Collect and maintain updated data on the volume of recyclable material that is disposed vs. collected for recycling
activity	• Maintain a list of local entities involved in the recycling supply chain
	• Estimate the volume of demand in the local supply chain for different types of material
Promote recycling to policymakers and the	 Report on the positive economic and environmental impacts of recycling
public	• Promote products made with recycled materials to consumers (often through online 'Buy Recycled' directories)
	Advocate for relevant legislation (e.g., extended producer
	purchase products made with recycled materials, tax incentives for
	recycling-related equipment, landfill bans for certain materials, etc.)
Promote waste	• Advocate for relevant legislation (e.g., bans on plastic bags and
reduction	other single-use plastics, requirements that allow for reusables etc.)

^a In Washington, Ecology's <u>Contamination Reduction Outreach Program</u> focuses on this issue

Publicly funded centers do not operate in a vacuum. They collaborate with other organizations, non-profits, governments, businesses, and universities. Collaborations identified in our research include:

- The EPA, which includes "improve markets for recycled commodities" as an objective in the 2021 <u>National Recycling Strategy</u>
- Regional organizations like the Southeast Recycling Development Council (<u>SERDC</u>) and Northeast Recycling Council (<u>NERC</u>)
- Private consulting firms like <u>Resource Recycling Systems</u> (RRS), <u>Reclay Group</u> (formerly RSE USA), <u>Burns & McDonnell</u>, and <u>Circular Matters</u>
- Industry organizations like <u>AMERIPEN</u> (American Institute for Packaging and the Environment)
- Non-profits like the <u>National Recycling Coalition</u> and <u>The Recycling Partnership</u>
- Local universities, such as the Pennsylvania center's affiliation with Penn State University and Phoenix Public Works' partnership with Arizona State University

Other private and non-profit organizations work on related issues but are not directly involved with publicly funded centers. These include:

• The Institute of Scrap Recycling Industries (ISRI), the Sustainable Packaging Coalition (SPC), Cradle to Cradle Products Innovation Institute, the Ellen MacArthur Foundation, and the investment firm <u>Closed Loop Partners</u>

Organizational decision-making

Because our analysis investigates how public market development centers prioritize and make decisions, this section summarizes relevant literature on organizational decision-making.

Many decisions in public organizations require formal processes and multiple approvals. However, smaller decisions are frequently made in less formal contexts at multiple levels within organizations.⁴⁰ Without well-considered processes for these smaller decisions, decision-maker biases and organizational power dynamics may easily diminish decision accuracy because perceptions from any role rarely align closely with objective performance measures.⁴¹ Allowing decisions to rest on intuition also makes those decisions more difficult for other stakeholders to interpret.⁴²

Organizations often turn toward data-centered decision-making to remedy challenges with an intuition-based approach. Highly successful public organizations often focus on measuring progress towards mission-oriented goals.⁴³ This focus is often emphasized in their cultures and internal communications.⁴⁴

However, good decisions rely on shared goals, common understanding, and integrating information well, which can be challenging as an organization expands its data usage.⁴⁵ Pressure to move towards data-driven decision-making too quickly can result in an organization collecting more data than it has the capacity to interpret.⁴⁶ Collecting too much data too quickly also makes it more likely the organization will capture redundant or irrelevant information, further taxing their analytical capacity.

In response to data over-collection, organizations may revert to intuitive decision-making or seek even more data.⁴⁷ These coping strategies often create a false sense of certainty, leading organizations to ignore many possible outcomes of their decisions in favor of a preferred outcome.⁴⁸ Furthermore, because individuals often weigh competing goals sub-consciously, intuition continues to play a large role in data-centered organizations.⁴⁹

To help alleviate these challenges, organizations can develop processes to 1) better identify what type of information will improve decision accuracy and 2) integrate that information into decisions.⁵⁰ Academic organizational psychology literature is rich with analyses of decision-making processes. We summarize some broad categories of processes below.

- 1. Learning forums for single and double loop learning:⁵¹ Single-loop learning is the practice of establishing performance measures and progress reviews for programs and activities with the goal of streamlining processes and improving productivity. Double-loop learning is the practice of evaluating underlying organizational assumptions, questioning organizational goals, and determining the value in pursuing different strategic courses of action. Learning forums are regular events with third-party facilitators with the goal of sharing both quantitative and experiential knowledge about organizational position and reasons for that position. When used to establish bottom-up and top-down communication channels between managers and staff, these forums can build shared understanding and lead to more accurate decisions. If used to reinforce hierarchy or present data confrontationally, the impact of these forums is limited.
- 2. Action planning:⁵² This approach focuses first on identifying an organizational vision that incorporates viewpoints from multiple stakeholders within and outside of the organization, followed by compiling data to assess the current state of the organization relative to that vision. After assessing gaps, planning committees develop short, medium, and long-term goals to close those gaps together with relevant measures to assess progress. This approach prioritizes immediate actions to reach short-term goals and uses frequent short planning periods to reassess progress. This approach balances mission-alignment and agility, but it can be challenging to implement if the organization does not already have sufficient data available for initial assessments.
- 3. Analytically simplifying multiple objectives:⁵³ This class of processes attempts to break a complex issue into smaller components, each of which has clearer decision-making criteria or ways of rating potential actions and outcomes. Sub-objectives are assigned weights, and weighted outcomes on each sub-objective are summed to determine a course of action. These approaches allow for formal sensitivity analyses and serve as communication tools in and of themselves. It can be challenging to incorporate qualitative attributes.⁵⁴ The focus on a fixed set of alternative courses of action can limit decisionmakers' perceptions.⁵⁵
- 4. **Decision trees**: The class of processes attempts to create flowcharts that end in decisions based on attributes of the challenge at hand. They are commonly used in situations where similar decisions occur regularly but are complex. They enable complex decision-making structures but must be completely specified in advance. These also focus on deciding between preset alternatives and encourage a belief that outcome and risk are completely designated by the position of the decision in the tree, creating a false sense of security.⁵⁶

- 5. Scenario planning: In this approach a group considers multiple plausible futures. They either select a scenario they find robust and develop solutions for that scenario or find solutions that work across many scenarios. Overreliance on a single scenario can lead to maladaptive action and high belief that the specifics of that scenario will actually occur.⁵⁷ Considering multiple scenarios reduces participant confidence in any particular outcome, but increases their confidence in their selected actions and may enhance organizational adaptability.⁵⁸ Scenario construction can be biased towards optimistic scenarios, complex scenarios, and scenarios that reflect the past.⁵⁹ Actively engaging in scenario construction to stretch thinking and avoid these biases improves the range of scenarios and potential solutions developed.⁶⁰
- 6. **Decision conferencing**: In this approach a third-party decision analyst facilitates a multiday discussion, walking the organization through several decision-making processes. The common purpose of the event and commitment to action may spur greater organizational buy-in and create greater space for discussing disagreements in assessments. Empirically the success of these events is difficult to measure.⁶¹

The literature suggests several safeguards that can improve decision-making outcomes regardless of the process used. A key strategy is to develop multiple ways to respond to potential decision outcomes in advance.⁶² Formal planning, receiving feedback from a wide range of individuals, or including generalists as team members are good ways to help develop these responses.⁶³ For greatest impact, these responses should focus on areas where unlikely outcomes have the potential to have the most severe consequences for the organization.⁶⁴ Organizations must both notice detrimental outcomes and implement responses effectively.⁶⁵ Other potential safeguards include making incremental decisions and assessing outcomes prior to large investments and incorporating educational events during planning activities to encourage individuals to share their perceptions of organizational status and risk.⁶⁶

Decision-making factors and considerations in recycling market development

Numerous governmental organizations have established indicators for tracking the development of recycling programs specifically, and progress towards a circular economy more generally. In Chapter 4, we will consider such factors in use by state and municipal organizations with mandates similar to the RDC's. In this section, we provide additional context to better situate those findings.

Lack of standardized definitions and evaluation criteria for recycling programs

States and municipalities across the U.S. measure the success of their recycling programs in various ways. Given this lack of standardization, the EPA's 2021 National Recycling Strategy set an objective to "standardize measurement and increase data collection" for U.S. recycling systems, including the following sub-objectives:⁶⁷

• Develop and implement national recycling system definitions, measures, targets, and performance indicators.

- Create a tracking and reporting plan.
- Create recycled content measures.
- Coordinate domestic and international measurement efforts.
- Increase data availability and transparency about recyclable materials generated and the materials manufacturers need.

While these goals are valuable, accomplishing them will take years of work. In the meantime, recycling programs in the U.S. – and thus publicly funded recycling market development centers – continue to use various definitions, tracking systems, and success metrics for similar processes.

Solid waste characterization and recycling collection studies

Most states use solid waste characterization studies to estimate the tons of each type of recyclable material that is disposed in landfills. For example, Ecology hires a third-party consultant to conduct a state waste characterization study approximately every five years. The most recent Ecology study estimated the composition of Washington's disposed municipal solid waste in 2020-2021 by taking 520 samples from landfills and waste transfer stations and reviewing four local studies conducted in Seattle, King County, Bellingham, Pierce County.⁶⁸

States also conduct studies to estimate the tons of each type of recyclable material collected for recycling.⁶⁹ In WA, regulated recyclers and MRFs must annually report the tons they handle to Ecology, and Ecology asks non-regulated collectors of recoverable material to report what they collect through an annual survey.⁷⁰

States often use these studies to calculate various ratios and percentages to measure the success of recycling programs overall and for specific materials. For example, a state's "recycling rate" or "diversion rate," measures the tons of material collected for recycling, composting, and other forms of material recovery divided by the total tons of solid waste (recovered, landfilled, or incinerated).⁷¹ The recycling "capture rate" or "recovery rate" measures the tons of material collected for recycling or composting (adjusted to exclude estimated contamination) divided by the tons of recyclables or compostables in the entire waste stream.⁷² States may also track the weight of collected recyclables per capita and total solid waste per capita (pounds per person per day) over time.⁷³

Common quantitative measurements of recycling benefits

This section provides an overview of two specific types of quantitative metrics that centers commonly estimate: the positive economic and environmental impacts of recycling. While this section explains the benefits in general, centers typically attempt to calculate specific local or regional benefits.

Environmental benefits of recycling – typical quantitative metrics

Recycling reduces three key measurable negative environmental impacts: landfill volume (measured in tons), greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (measured in metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalents), and energy use (measured in kilowatt hours). Details about these outcomes are below.

- Reduction in landfill volume and associated GHG emissions:
 - Landfills pose a risk to water and soil quality through leachate leakage, which occurs when precipitation seeps through a landfill into the soil and groundwater, carrying contaminants with it.⁷⁴
 - Landfills also emit GHGs, including carbon dioxide and methane.⁷⁵ In 2017, municipal landfills accounted for about 14 percent of methane emissions in the U.S.⁷⁶
 - Delivering recyclable materials to a landfill eliminates the benefits of recycling or reusing that material.
- Reduction in energy use and associated GHG emissions:
 - In addition to averting GHG emissions by reducing landfill volume as discussed above, recycling also lowers emissions by decreasing the amount of energy used for resource extraction and manufacturing. For example, compared to making products using virgin raw material, using recycled content in manufacturing processes reduces the amount of energy required by up to 95 percent for aluminum, 88 percent for plastic, 85 percent for copper, 74 percent for steel, 68 percent for paper, and 25 percent for glass.⁷⁷

Recycling market development centers typically use the weight of material recycled within their jurisdiction to estimate the local contribution to GHG emission and energy use reduction. The EPA <u>Waste Reduction Model (WARM)</u> calculator⁷⁸ is frequently used to compare the emissions and energy use associated with recycling a certain material to those associated with landfilling the material.

Economic benefits of recycling – typical quantitative metrics

Across the U.S., entities like MRFs, material processors, and manufacturers employ hundreds of thousands of people and thus generate economic activity. The EPA estimates that in 2012 alone, recycling and reuse activities contributed 681,000 jobs, \$37.8 billion in wages, and \$5.5 billion in tax revenues.⁷⁹

Recycling market development centers typically estimate these local economic benefits based on the companies involved in the end-market ecosystem in their jurisdiction. They often use inputoutput models such as IMPLAN to estimate the direct, indirect, and induced economic impacts of those companies.⁸⁰ In these models, indirect impacts represent the economic activity generated by businesses that interact with recycling businesses, and induced impacts represent the economic activity generated by recycling business employees' spending.⁸¹

Additional non-quantifiable economic and environmental benefits

Recycling has many other environmental and economic benefits that are not easily quantifiable. For example, as resource extraction has more than tripled since 1970,⁸² recycling uses the earth's limited resources more efficiently and reduces the loss of economically valuable material to landfills and incinerators. Recycling also reduces litter in the environment, such as the millions of tons of plastic in the oceans.⁸³ While these broad benefits are widely touted by market development centers, they are not usually estimated and used as quantitative metrics.

Relationship to social impacts

Environmental and economic benefits are only two of the many societal effects of circular economy and recycling programs. Such programs tend to overlook many social and community-level considerations, including impacts on culture, psychological state, health, and wellbeing.⁸⁴ The World Health Organization suggests numerous potential positive and negative social impacts from circular economy development,⁸⁵ though additional research is necessary to better understand appropriate measures.⁸⁶

Washington RDC evaluation criteria

The RDC has developed success targets in collaboration with its advisory board (see Appendix 3).⁸⁷ Some of these indicators focus on the completion of particular types of engagements with stakeholders, while others focus on specific material and economic targets.

The RDC is currently piloting a project ranking system across Ecology goals, Commerce goals, Advisory Board goals, and their legislative mandate.⁸⁸ Specific prioritization criteria include: reducing greenhouse gas emissions, supporting equitable economic growth, engaging stakeholders and conducting outreach to facilitate market development, increasing material for circular end use, compiling and disseminating knowledge, providing grants, supporting research and development efforts, and diverting materials from landfills.

Chapter 3: Research Methods

In alignment with our research questions, we designed our research methods to identify effective ways for the RDC to inform its operations, priorities, and decision-making for market development.

Following our literature review (see Chapter 2), through discussions with the RDC we identified an initial list of recycling market development centers to investigate. We added to that list over time by asking organizations we interviewed to recommend additional contacts and by independently identifying other mature state-level recycling market development centers. For each organization, we gathered information in three ways:

- 1. Examination of publicly facing websites and reports,
- 2. Interviews with senior organization staff, and
- 3. Follow-up emails to confirm and clarify interview takeaways.

We used qualitative analysis methods to evaluate the information we gathered and produce summaries of our findings (see Chapter 4).

The rest of this chapter provides greater detail on our data collection and analysis designs, closing with a discussion of limitations of this research approach.

Data acquisition and organization

Choosing organizations to investigate

Our research focused on publicly funded recycling market development centers ("centers") and their direct partners, including nonprofits and consulting organizations working in this space.

We completed two rounds of interviews. The first round was comprised of organizations the RDC suggested. The second round was comprised of centers identified during our literature review and suggestions from organizations interviewed in the first round. We prioritized the organizations the RDC suggested in the first round because of the RDC's interests and their ability to facilitate interview scheduling.

In total, we interviewed representatives from the 19 organizations listed below.

We interviewed 14 organizations regarding their own recycling market development activities:

- State level
 - Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE)
 - Indiana Department of Environmental Management (IDEM)
 - Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP)
 - Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (MI EGLE)
 - Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MN PCA)
 - Missouri Environmental Improvement & Energy Resources Authority (MO EIERA)
 - Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (OH EPA)
 - Pennsylvania Recycling Markets Center (PA RMC), a non-profit funded largely by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection

- Resource Recycling Systems (RRS), operator of NextCycle Colorado, itself a nonprofit funded by CDPHE
- South Carolina Department of Commerce
- Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ)
- City level
 - Envision Charlotte (North Carolina), a nonprofit
 - Phoenix Public Works (PPW) Circular Economy Initiative (Arizona)
 - Another city-level program (anonymized)

We were also in discussions with the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery to arrange an interview, which they unfortunately ultimately declined.

We interviewed 5 other organizations regarding their own operations and those of the centers they support or encourage:

- American Institute for Packaging and the Environment (AMERIPEN)
- Burns & McDonnell, a private consulting firm interviewed specifically about their work with TCEQ
- Circular Matters, a private consulting firm
- Northeast Recycling Council (NERC), a regional non-profit providing services in 11 states
- Southeast Recycling Development Council (SERDC), a regional non-profit providing services in 11 states



Figure 2: Map of interviewees. This map displays the 19 organizations we interviewed for this project.

Data collection

Online data

Before engaging organizations in interviews, we examined sources from our literature review (see Chapter 2), organizational websites, and publicly available reports. From this research we identified key decision-making arenas, processes, goals, and evaluative criteria in use.

Interviews

We created a standard list of interview questions based on the findings of our literature review (see Chapter 2), our review of interviewees' online resources, and the RDC's interests. We aligned our questions with interview format best practices, including appropriate consent and data use disclosures, wording, and question order.⁸⁹ Please see Appendix 4 for our interview protocol and general interview questions. We added a few customized questions for each organization based on their websites and reports.

We sent interviewees copies of disclosures and questions ahead of interviews to help them prepare. A single team member conducted each interview. Multiple team members provided notetaking and recording support. We recorded interviews and used voice-to-text software to create interview transcripts. These transcripts allowed us to better identify and track commonalities across organizations during the analysis phase of the project. To encourage interviewees to be candid in their responses, transcripts were only used internally and were deleted after analysis was complete.

Follow-up emails

At the completion of the interviewing phase of our project, we emailed interviewees to clarify technical details and request some additional information regarding organizational resourcing. Each organization was given the opportunity to review a draft of our findings to verify the accuracy of our portrayal of their interview responses.

Analysis design

We used standard content analysis methods to examine our interview transcripts.^b

First, we identified concepts to look for in the interviews based on the interests of the RDC (a "deductive" approach). We then read the interview transcripts to identify additional concepts pertinent to our research questions ("inductive" approach). We compiled the important concepts (called "themes") and specific cases of those concepts (called "codes") into a shared document.

The full list of themes and codes we used is available in Appendix 5.

Next, we made note of where each "code" appeared in every transcript (called "coding"). Two team members independently coded each transcript to ensure that nothing was missed and to account for different interpretations of the codes. We resolved coding disagreements through

^b For a full treatment of content analysis and related concepts see H. Russell Bernard, Gery W. Ryan, and Amber Y. Wutich, *Analyzing Qualitative Data: Systematic Approaches*, SAGE Publications, 2016.

group discussion (rather than the more scientific practice of computing intercoder reliability statistics).^c

We used coded transcripts to aggregate information shared by our interviewees about specific measures, processes, activities, and challenges.

Limitations and mitigation strategies

Our research methods had several weaknesses, which we attempted to mitigate through our sampling design.

First, the way we chose our interviewees led to limitations in our findings. Our initial sample was a convenience sample^d that in some ways also served as a purposive sample.^e Convenience and purposive sampling can lead to bias in results. Both approaches may limit findings to researcher favored perspectives.

The following aspects of our sampling design reduce the potential bias introduced by starting with a convenience sampling approach:

- 1. Four organizations the RDC suggested offer a broad view on recycling market development organization data and decision-making practices across several entities, including industry viewpoints:
 - a. An industry-oriented organization that provides services across several government programs and affiliated business partners: AMERIPEN
 - b. Two organizations that provide regional services to several states regarding recycling market development: SERDC and NERC
 - c. A consulting firm that provides services across several public entities: Circular Matters
- 2. We enhanced our list of potential interviewees through two methods described below. From this list we selected additional organizations to interview, prioritizing mature organizations whose online presence indicated they may have different perspectives from organizations we had already investigated:
 - a. We conducted snowball sampling, that is, we asked for suggestions for additional recycling development organizations to investigate from each organization we interviewed.
 - b. We compiled a list of state and local level recycling market development organizations operating across the U.S.

^c Such an approach supports incorporating multiple perspectives into the knowledge generation framework, as advocated in Lucy Yardley, "Demonstrating Validity in Qualitative Psychology," The Journal of Positive Psychology, Vol. 12, No. 3, 2016, pp. 295-296. The advantages and disadvantages of intercoder reliability statistics are often debated in academic circles. See for instance Cliodhna O'Connor and Helene Joffe, "Intercoder Reliability in Qualitative Research: Debates and Practical Guidelines," International Journal of Qualitative Methods, Vol. 19, 2020.

^d Convenience sampling is the practice of selecting research participants based on the ease of identifying and contacting said participants. See, for instance, Bernard et al.

^e Purposive sampling is the practice of selecting research participants based on individual characteristics that researchers believe will be correlated with perspectives of particular interest. See, for instance, Bernard et al.

Second, our study reflects the opinions of a small number of organizations. As such, we cannot draw large-scale conclusions about the prevalence of reported experiences or statistically predict how related events may unfold within the RDC.

Lastly, the time-limited nature of our project restricted the extent to which we could engage with each interviewed organization. We interviewed each organization only once – meaning that we did not receive comprehensive, definitive information about each organization, but only a glimpse determined by the person (or people) we interviewed. Also, despite our efforts to standardize our interview questions ahead of time, we discussed certain topics with some interviewees and not others since we asked follow-up questions depending on information that was shared.

As we progressed through our interviews, the content of each interview was increasingly redundant. Given this fact, we are confident in the comprehensiveness of the material we uncovered.

Chapter 4: Findings

This chapter reports the key information learned from our 19 interviews with recycling development centers and related organizations. First, we cover factors that interviewees said influenced decision-making and program activities – including mandates, funding, equity, landscape analysis, and stakeholder engagement. Then we describe how interviewees choose which recyclable materials to prioritize, how to award grants, and how to communicate with different audiences. Lastly, we report how interviewees use comprehensive planning, how they are impacted by challenges with data, and the role of strategic alliances in their program operations. We close the chapter with explicit advice interviewees provided. These topics are shown in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3: Content of Chapter 4 – Findings. This shows the four sections of Chapter 4 and key sub-sections therein.

The interviews were guided by our research questions (see Appendix 4 for specific interview questions):

- What are effective ways for the RDC to use quantitative metrics and qualitative factors to inform its operations, priorities, and decision-making for market development?
- What experiences of other organizations could inform the RDC's investments?

A note on commonly used metrics

Throughout this chapter, we refer to quantitative metrics that interviewees commonly use. Our interviews confirmed that centers use metrics previously mentioned in Chapter 2 to guide decision-making and communicate with various audiences. Key metrics include:

- Volume of recyclable material being landfilled (per waste characterization studies) and collected for recycling, and related ratios (per Chapter 2)
- Reductions of GHG emissions and energy use attributed to recycling (often calculated using the EPA WARM model)

• Direct, indirect, and induced economic impacts, such as jobs, wages, and tax revenue, associated with companies involved in the recycling supply chain (often calculated using the IMPLAN model)

Factors that influence decision-making and program activities

This section discusses specific quantitative and qualitative evaluative criteria interviewees use to inform their operations, priorities, and decision-making for market development.

Market development priorities depend on a center's goals, mandates, and funding sources

Unlike more discretionary decisions discussed in the sections below, centers are obligated to operate according to their goals, mandates, and funding source requirements.

The nature of the center's host agency and founding legislation

Publicly funded interviewees that are not part of environmental agencies – the Phoenix Circular Economy Program, PA RMC, and SC Department of Commerce – tend to focus more on direct assistance for businesses and entrepreneurs. Also, a center's founding legislation may specify a certain focus. For example, the RDC's statute specifies an "initial focus on mixed waste paper and plastics."⁹⁰

Centers may lack the statutory authority to undertake several types of actions that they may otherwise find beneficial to achieving their program goals. For instance, because TCEQ is a regulatory agency and cannot engage in legislative advocacy, the state's recycling market development plan recommends establishing a center as a university affiliate or independent nonprofit.

Direction from state or local policy

Sometimes, market development centers are directly instructed to conduct certain activities by law. For example, TCEQ conducted two studies in response to mandates from the state legislature.

Occasionally, priorities are shaped by relevant policies. For instance, MI and IN have official state recycling rate targets that influence market development priorities. In Michigan, the recycling rate target leads MI EGLE to focus on recyclable collection activities in addition to processing and manufacturing capacity. In IN, construction and demolition (C&D) materials get less attention than traditional recyclables because they are not included in the state's recycling rate target.

While relevant policies shape priorities, market development centers are not solely driven by them. For example, the CO Resource Recycling Economic Opportunity grant fund has a landfill diversion objective per legislation, but CDPHE can also awards grants to projects that do not contribute to that objective. Projects that address tires and e-waste are not technically contributing to landfill diversion because those materials are banned from landfills in CO, but they have still received grants from CDPHE.

Directives from authoritative "higher-up" entities

Interviewees are sometimes instructed to focus on certain activities by an authority at the state or city level. For example, both city-level government programs we spoke to are strongly influenced by their city councils. The SC Department of Commerce has focused on specific recyclable materials that are important to the Department of Health and Environmental Control, with which they are under contract.

Interviewees are also sometimes directed by boards of directors with decision-making authority. For instance, IDEM's market development board chooses their priorities and activities in strategic planning sessions every couple of years. At PA RMC, the board of directors historically chose certain recyclable materials to prioritize (although now those are chosen based on waste characterization studies). Many interviewees' boards, advisory councils, and steering committees do not have decision-making authority but provide guidance (see sections below for more details).

Funding sources

Clearly, lack of funding limits what centers are able to do. Additionally, centers may receive funding designated for certain purposes. For example, one city department we spoke to is funded specifically by ratepayers rather than by all taxpayers. Their funds must be spent to benefit ratepayers, and they are not able to give large grants to private businesses.

Equity and environmental justice play an increasingly large role

Measures of equity and environmental justice are a relatively new focus of recycling development centers. Some interviewees have recently begun assessing related metrics, but most organizations, including the RDC, are still developing protocols for assessing and implementing equity in their programming. This section focuses on the use of equity and environmental justice in evaluating grant applications, measuring gaps in infrastructure and access, increasing accessibility, and difficulties associated with implementing equity programming and evaluating impacts.

Equity factors incorporated into funding projects and grants

Of our interviewees, two organizations explicitly mentioned incorporating equity as part of their scoring systems for evaluating whether to provide grants to specific recycling projects. While their process is still developing, MN PCA gives points to proposed projects that are sited within low-income areas or historically marginalized communities. MI EGLE also incorporates equity as one of their three key criteria in deciding how to award grants. The criteria in their 2023 request for proposals includes "projects that will benefit an environmental justice community or underserved and vulnerable populations within a community."⁹¹

While not specifically a grant program, NextCycle Colorado seeks to make its program accessible to all by simplifying the application process. Additionally, MassDEP provides information in multiple languages to attract more diverse applicants to their grant program.

Increasing access to curbside recycling and processing capacity

Rural areas are less likely to have access to curbside recycling collection than urban areas because collection routes and MRFs are typically more cost-effective in high-population areas. Many interviewees, such as SERDC, identified increasing collection access in rural areas as a key strategy for increasing waste diversion. Only a handful of organizations identified rural access as an issue of inequity, however.

Diminished access to recycling in rural areas was a uniform response among interviewees that mentioned access to curbside recycling programs. Processing centers are typically more cost-effective to locate in high population areas. Due to limited funding, the centers we interviewed typically focus funding on population-dense regions to have a greater impact on waste diversion per dollar spent. Data collected by CDPHE that tracks the recycling and composting rate by city and county exemplifies these discrepancies Using this data, CDPHE has singled out lack of rural access as a challenge for meeting their statewide diversion goals.

In addition to CDPHE, both SERDC and MO EIERA have identified that many rural areas have no access to curbside recycling. They are specifically seeking to fund projects that promote such programs in these areas.

Aside from increasing access in rural areas, MI EGLE highlighted how equitable access to curbside collection can be an issue even within large metropolitan areas. Communities of color and low-income communities in Detroit recently have had limited access when compared to higher income communities in the city. Much of MI EGLE's recent work has focused on closing this gap.

Siting new infrastructure

Interviewees gave conflicting perspectives about the benefits and drawbacks of siting new recycling infrastructure within areas that have been historically marginalized such as low-income neighborhoods and communities of high racial diversity. As highlighted earlier, the MN PCA funds projects sited within such areas to promote economic and job growth within these communities. This is in contrast with PPW, which seeks to avoid developing infrastructure that may increase pollutants in marginalized communities, which have historically been impacted negatively by other industrial pollutants. PPW found that incorporating equity specialists from other government departments during project review has helped avoid this scenario.

Difficulties associated with measuring environmental justice and equity

Every organization that highlighted equity or environmental justice also discussed the difficulties associated with implementing and measuring the impacts of equity policies. While most organizations are still developing metrics to evaluate these policies, equity is intrinsically difficult to measure. Kyla Fisher from AMERIPEN shared that the EPA has an Environmental Justice screening tool (which has been utilized by MI EGLE).⁹² While this tool is useful, measuring the impact of equity programming depends on the unique equity issues that face each state or city.

Interviewees also mentioned a lack of resources and staff devoted to equity assessments as key barriers to successful equity programming. One interviewee discussed an inter-department equity tool; however, their current staff finds the tool challenging to use and is uncomfortable

incorporating equity into decisions without additional guidance. They suggested the need for dedicated staff to guide equity efforts.

It is also difficult to measure whether the impacts of increased recycling access and infrastructure are having the intended results within targeted communities. MI EGLE is developing methods to quantify environmental justice in projects. In the interim, however, they rely on self-reported data from potential grantees, which may be inaccurate. MI EGLE also highlighted the difficulties of measuring access, as it is difficult to determine whether infrastructure intended for target communities is being used by consumers from other nearby areas.

Interviewees use landscape analysis and stakeholder engagement to remove barriers and enhance support

Interviewees frequently commented on the importance of a deep understanding of the full recycling supply chain in directing their efforts toward the supply versus demand side of different markets. Feedback from supply chain stakeholders can further enhance this understanding by providing interviewees with specific details about barriers these stakeholders perceive and better allowing centers to anticipate new material markets and expansions of existing material markets. Stakeholders outside the supply chain also influence interviewees more generally. This section discusses specific quantitative and qualitative information obtained through landscape analysis and stakeholder engagement, as well as the role of this information in program operations.

Landscape analysis

Motivation, key questions, and assessments

Landscape or supply chain analysis is the practice of collecting and analyzing data about the location and capacity of different entities in the supply chain to better understand material flows and markets. Interviewees shared several specific ways that understanding this information bolsters the effectiveness of their programs, including:

- Knowing imbalances between processing and manufacturing can help to prioritize a focus on supply-side or demand-side efforts.
- Identifying the distribution of materials and markets can point to places where minimal intervention can create large impacts, such as connecting processors and manufacturers unaware of complementary needs.
- Identifying regional imbalances in supply and demand or differences in urban/rural access helps to pinpoint locations for infrastructure development.
- Recognizing dominant market players can help centers develop more useful contingency plans in the case these entities shutter operations or relocate.
- A full view of the landscape can help focus plans to accommodate a new material or expand resources for an existing material.
- Creating stakeholder maps provides a resource for other supply chain members and local governments, as well as an educational tool for public engagement.

More broadly, interviewees use gaps identified through landscape analysis to guide grantmaking for capital investment and program choice. Using landscape analysis to clarify efficient actions makes it a useful tool early in program prioritization. Landscape analysis also elucidates the

required regional investment to see desired changes by industry and material, helping centers better understand necessary investments to improve program access.

Different interviewees found different challenges with their program design through the use of market analysis. For instance, Texas has more than 250 counties, approximately 160 of which are rural. They face high material transport costs and program access issues. In comparison, a government with a high density of material and industry would not face the same transport challenges but may find capital infrastructure investment more costly due to high land values.

<u>Attributes</u>

Key measures integrated into landscape analysis include:

- Location of supply chain elements, including: material generation by consumers and businesses; processors; manufacturers; landfills; transportation and shipping companies; transportation infrastructure, such as rail, ports, and high quality roads
- Material flows, including: between entities; through a single entity; and the stability of these flows
- Limitations on flow capacity, including: location of equipment; location of labor; and transport or sale restrictions, such as landfill bans or cross-jurisdictional transport bans
- Trends in production, consumption, and new material development, such as: the increase in automobile battery consumption due to increases in hybrid and electric car purchasing
- Infrastructure available by material and region
- Regional pricing differences
- Manufacturer dependence on particular suppliers or materials

Many of these attributes are useful on their own, while others are more useful in combination. For instance, understanding the cost-effectiveness of transporting a material to a processor requires knowing the location of both the material and processor, as well as the condition of the transport network. Additional factors, such as the weight of the material or the cost of land for developing infrastructure also impact these assessments.

Many interviewees noted the importance of considering extra-jurisdictional players when developing landscape analyses and using them to make decisions. While centers are often focused on benefits within their jurisdictions, material markets do not conform to jurisdictional boundaries. For instance, the presence of a large player just outside of jurisdictional boundaries may change regional access, be useful in developing a regional market, or reduce interest in attracting a similar stakeholder to region within the jurisdiction.

Stakeholder engagement

Interviewees use information from stakeholders in many different capacities across their program operations and typically value this information highly. A statement from Matt Flechter at MI EGLE summarizes the sentiments expressed by many interviewees regarding the importance of this information:

"Because there has to be a reason to act. And the reason to act is you have a strong voice of people that are able to tell their personal stories about why it's important to their community or their business. And data doesn't really help with that. Data just sets the stage."

– Matt Flechter, MI EGLE

Further, developing stakeholder relationships over time not only provides interviewees with more information and justification for action, but also builds trust, allowing them to build productive partnerships. This section describes stakeholder categories, the types of information they can provide to enhance market development operations, and strategies for collecting this information. It closes with some general considerations to promote effective stakeholder engagement.

Business and supply chain stakeholders

Key stakeholders across the supply chain include waste haulers, MRFs and other material processors, commodity brokers, manufacturers, reuse industry participants, recycling-oriented nonprofits, industry and recycling professional associations, and businesses and nonprofits with large material needs or who generate large amounts of potentially reusable waste (e.g., Habitat for Humanity, erosion control companies, construction companies, and large companies regardless of industry).

Engaging across these groups provides interviewees with information about desired materials and specific barriers interfering with capacity, enabling them to prioritize programs or materials more effectively. In particular, centers may be able to identify small investments with impacts that will reverberate throughout markets.

Haulers and MRFs can provide detailed information about waste stream contamination, helping interviewees direct their public outreach efforts and construct more regionally relevant contamination metrics. Engaging with manufacturers and large businesses to identify synergies between their business goals and the goals of the center can create an opportunity for rapid program advancement. Some interviewees noted that business goals were often not what they anticipated.

Many interviewees mentioned business requests for specific materials as being highly influential in material prioritization. Similarly, business requests for technical assistance are often highly influential over the types of outreach programs centers make available. These requests sometimes cause resource allocation tensions within a center if the business is not in a priority market, however publicly funded centers must be careful not to provide preferential treatment to specific businesses. Being able to clearly articulate center priorities to businesses approaching a center for assistance can help to alleviate these resource tensions.

Direct information requests directed towards haulers, processors, and manufacturers are often ineffective (discussed in more detail in a later section), however stakeholder forums seeking feedback from supply chain participants are often fruitful at generating information about the biggest challenges participants face. Third party forum organizers can act as connectors between centers and industry members, though many centers noted that government organized forums can also be effective. Participation in business funded recycling market development organizations, such as The Recycling Partnership or The National Recycling Coalition, provides several similar benefits to public forums with a greater focus on business goal alignment. In considering forum design, focusing on a single industry or supply chain element may help identify specific blockers, whereas cross-industry forums allow for a broader perspective. Cross-industry forums may help centers trace how blockers for one industry arise and enable a wide array of supply chain participants to share ideas and engage in collaborative problem solving.

Stakeholders within government

Key stakeholders within government include local recycling programs, regional planning commissions, other government departments (including commerce and economic-focused departments and strategic planning divisions), similar programs in other states and regions, and participants in other levels of government. Authoritative stakeholders, such as legislative bodies and public executives, have been discussed in an earlier section.

Several interviewees noted the importance of finding supportive government stakeholders in other areas to build coalitional support for recycling market development during planning cycles. Engagement across government stakeholders often influences program decisions through enhancing understanding of feasibility, enabling group problem-solving, and creating opportunities for partnerships and regional planning. Cross-agency or cross-department workgroups help interviewees generate ideas, understand available resources and feasibility, and delegate or divide responsibilities. Centers may use these as an opportunity to benefit from well-established processes in another related organization, such as a strategy or equity office. Many interviewees formally partner with economic development offices. A municipal center we spoke with shared that they also work closely with ordinance implementation and marketing teams to make use of their specialized expertise. Similarly, EPA regional workgroups offer opportunities for learning and engagement with other related public entities. Targeted engagements with local governments can enhance alignment between levels of government and surface implementation concerns witnessed at the local level.

Tense political situations between players may have more impact on their program decisions than specific policy goals or more scientific factors. Tensions may arise between governmental branches, levels, or departments. A priority at one level of government may impact decisions at lower levels of government, even if its execution is not mandated. Some interviewees noted partisanship concerns, though often recycling market development is a bipartisan issue.

Other stakeholders and the general public

Other stakeholders include residents, multi-family property owners and managers, organizations with specific recycling goals or expertise (for example, environmental organizations), and members of underserved communities or communities often excluded from public decision-making.

Engaging with members of underserved communities was discussed in depth in the previous section on equity and environmental justice. Communities residing close to industrial areas or recycling infrastructure sites, low-income communities, and racial minorities who have faced historic challenges with public engagement are of prominent concern.

Engaging with the other stakeholders mentioned can help centers to appreciate community interests, desired collection expansions to new materials, community confusion that results in contamination, differences in challenges associated with single and multi-family collections, factional interests, and specialized or technical information.

Often communications initiated by residents and property managers showcase confusion about recycling requirements. These communications can inform outreach programs to reduce contamination. Public forums and surveys, often required as part of the planning cycle, can uncover general public sentiment or be targeted to solicit specific types of information from residents. Some interviewees discussed the role of legislatively sanctioned citizen commissions. Findings of these commissions may influence legislative action and resulting center actions.

General stakeholder engagement considerations

Interviewees expressed four key considerations for engaging stakeholders:

- Centers may find it difficult to integrate stakeholder feedback effectively when their recommendations are different from existing center objectives. Stakeholders may not understand the limitations of center authorizing legislation or focus on benefits to themselves instead of the common good. For instance, residents may favor prioritizing certain materials because they perceive large environmental benefits but prioritizing other materials may actually lead to larger gains. In spite of this, often a stakeholder group understands their portion of the recycling system more deeply than a center does. Finding ways to integrate these perspectives can increase center effectiveness and efficiency.
- 2. Often important information that influences center decisions is not collected through formal methods but arrives through opportunistic encounters and conversations. For instance, several interviewees discussed the value of conversing with stakeholders at conferences to identify partnership opportunities or specific businesses interested in relocating to their jurisdiction. More broadly, developing stakeholder relationships over time enhances center opportunities. Greater stakeholder trust increases the level of information they are willing to share. Centers often require partnerships with other organizations to effectively engage in lobbying, conduct research activities, or fund projects outside of their jurisdiction that create a jurisdictional benefit.

- 3. Stakeholder engagement forums are an inexpensive way to quickly obtain lots of information and better understand what types of data to begin to formally collect. Forums can also help centers identify potential ongoing collaborations. A variety of forums or workgroups with different goals may help to satisfy both the need for understanding group-specific concerns and aiding in cross-group understanding. When determining how to move forward with feedback provided in these forums, consider the most frequent comments, the breadth of comments provided, and comments heard from the most different types of stakeholders.
- 4. Many interviewees discussed the value they find in drawing on the expertise of their advisory board, observing that the mixed expertise of the board enhanced the quality of advice. Typical board participation noted included members of related public agencies, trade organizations, recycling nonprofits, recycling industry associations, and business participants from key industries.

How metrics and qualitative information shape decisions

This section discusses findings related to how factors discussed in the previous section come into play in several common activities that centers undertake.

Centers use various methods for prioritizing specific materials

Some market development centers choose to prioritize developing markets for specific recyclable materials, such as paper or plastic. This section outlines the factors that influence material priorities according to interviewees.

Volume of certain recyclable material going to landfills

As mentioned above, waste characterization studies estimate the tons of each type of recyclable material landfilled each year. Several interviewees prioritize recyclable materials that are landfilled at a high rate. For example, CDPHE has awarded special grants specifically for projects that divert C&D waste and organic material from landfills because they are heavier materials that occupy a relatively large amount of landfill space. MN PCA, SC Department of Commerce, and MassDEP also mentioned prioritizing materials with low landfill diversion rates (i.e., tires and plastic film in MN; food waste in SC; mattresses and textiles in MA). For PA RMC, although material priorities were chosen by the Board of Directors using various factors in the past, as of 2023 the center plans to begin prioritizing materials based on the state's waste composition study.

Average material prices

In addition to waste characterization studies, MN PCA also considers average material prices when choosing material priorities. They formed special advisory groups for paper, glass, and compost based on the low average prices for those materials. Notably, glass was chosen as a priority due to its negative average price, even though the glass recycling rate in Minnesota is relatively high.

Emerging materials

MassDEP, MI EGLE, and MO EIERA are all considering how to develop markets for materials that are not currently a large portion of the waste stream but are likely to become so in coming decades – such as solar panels, wind turbine blades, and electric vehicle batteries.

Policies and regulations

Local policies may influence material priorities. In SC, developing end markets for food waste became a priority after the state's Department of Health and Environmental Control passed a new composting regulation. SC also prioritizes tire recycling because state law bans putting whole tires in landfills. CDPHE has grant programs specifically for tires because of a state landfill ban. Likewise, MassDEP initiatives focus on materials that have recently been banned from landfills – such as organic waste, textiles, and mattresses. Staff reach out to generators of those materials to build relationships and provide education and technical support.

Input from stakeholders in the recycling supply chain and related organizations

Many interviewees prioritize certain materials based on input from stakeholders. For example:

- Pennsylvania RMC considers feedback from county recycling coordinators.
- The SC Department of Commerce prioritizes materials based on conversations with recycling haulers, processors, and manufacturers. For example, it launched a public outreach campaign to increase plastic bottle recycling after stakeholders from the Carolinas Plastic Recycling Council, an industry association, said they needed more feedstock.
- MN PCA prioritizes materials based on input from local MRFs about which material markets are strong or weak.
- In the process of developing its state solid waste management plan, OH EPA chose four priority materials based on advice from stakeholders.⁹³
- MN PCA and OH EPA also react to interest in certain materials from local processors and manufacturers; if many entities contact the center looking for the same type of feedstock, they will focus on shoring up supply of that material (i.e., helping paper mills locate feedstock in OH).

Recycling barriers and opportunities

In partnership with Burns & McDonnell and Circular Matters, Texas CEQ used a unique method for identifying high-priority recyclable materials.⁹⁴ First, they identified the most common barriers that prevent recyclable materials from reaching end markets through a series of meetings with stakeholders in the recycling supply chain, interviews with market research representatives, and internet research. Contamination and competition with low-cost disposal options were among the identified factors. Then, materials that faced the most barriers that could be addressed through market development efforts were designated as high priority.

Local industry landscape and capacity

Many interviewees mentioned that their material priorities are influenced by the presence of, absence of, recent closure of, or industry trends related to specific types of manufacturers or processors. For instance, Colorado has a strong market for glass due to the presence of Coors

Brewing and Rocky Mountain Bottle, so end market development for glass is not a high priority in that state but increasing glass collection is. On the other hand, glass became a priority for MassDEP after a major glass processor and a glass beneficiation plant both shut down operations in the state.

MN PCA responded to local industry circumstances in several ways. After a paper mill closed and created a hole in the old corrugated cardboard market, MN PCA "directed traffic" to prevent the material from being landfilled. A local can-making plant also recently closed, so MN PCA has been working with a local aluminum smelter to see if they can buy the plant. Because local manufacturers demand polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plastic feedstock, but the state lacks an intermediary processor for non-objection PET, MN PCA has been working to recruit one to the state.

The SC Department of Commerce has not only ramped up programs due to industry trends, but also ramped them down. Carpet recycling was once a high priority, but after the industry shifted from valuable nylon to less valuable polyester, it was de-prioritized. Meanwhile, lithium-ion battery recycling has become a priority in recent years due to increased electric vehicle manufacturing in the state. SC also prioritizes tire recycling because the state is a national leader in tire manufacturing.⁹⁵

MI EGLE identifies high priority materials through an annual study with NextCycle Michigan that reveals gaps in processing capacity and end markets. Those materials are prioritized when MI EGLE awards grants.

GHG emissions related to specific materials

For MI EGLE, while specific materials are prioritized for grants per the gap analysis mentioned above, the agency also favors projects that result in a higher reduction of GHG emissions. Grant applicants must estimate their project's impact on emissions using the EPA WARM model. So, materials for which recycling reduces more emissions have an advantage.

MN PCA does not currently use emissions reduction data to prioritize certain recyclable materials but plans to do so in the future. The state's Solid Waste Policy Report recommends considering "alternative measures to weight-based reporting which encompass the environmental impacts of a material."⁹⁶ For instance, if glass and cardboard have the same capture rate, but recycling cardboard results in greater emissions reduction, then MN PCA could direct more resources toward market development for cardboard.⁹⁷

Although we did not interview the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality's Materials Management agency for this study, it is well-known for prioritizing GHG emission reductions. It has done lifecycle analysis for various types of materials to determine how recycling impacts emissions for each one. It concentrates on landfill diversion and recycling for more high-impact materials.⁹⁸
Influence from leadership

The SC Department of Commerce focuses on tire recycling because it has been a commodity of interest for the Department of Health and Environmental Control, with which Commerce is under contract. The state's \$2.00 recovery fee for tires does not currently generate enough revenue to cover disposal costs.

Case study: Charlotte, NC

Circular Charlotte is unique in this study because it is a non-profit, not a publicly funded entity. It focuses on making direct business-to-business connections between generators and end users or incubating new businesses that use recyclable materials. As such, staff chose four priority material categories (plastics, organics, textiles, and C&D) for which they could feasibly accomplish those goals. That said, Circular Charlotte also works opportunistically on projects related to other materials if they arise, such as wood waste and grain bags from breweries. Additionally, because it is a non-profit that needs to fundraise, within the four priority categories, it aims to support attention-grabbing projects that will resonate with donors.

Unused factors

It is worth noting that none of the centers we interviewed said they prioritize certain recyclable materials based on the estimated economic impact of recycling more of those materials (i.e., job creation, tax revenue, etc.), even though almost all interviewees had completed economic impact studies that made material prioritization recommendations. Interviewees primarily use these studies to demonstrate the benefits of recycling market development to the public and legislators (see section below about communicating with various audiences).

Interviewees consider various factors when awarding grants

Many of the organizations we interviewed award grant funding to government agencies and businesses with the intent to increase recycling capacity and waste diversion. This section illuminates the funding processes, decision-making processes, and grant impact evaluation processes of our interviewees.

Funding processes

Interviewees receive funding for grants in a variety of ways. Most reported wishing they had more funding to provide grants, however one state organization, Ohio EPA reported having more funding for grants than they have spent in recent years. While funding for grants typically comes from the state or city's general fund, Ohio EPA, CDPHE, and Phoenix reported receiving at least a portion of the funds for their grant programs through landfill tipping fees. The Reimagine Phoenix Circular Economy Program is a unique case as its tipping fees first go into the city's public works solid waste fund before they can be allocated back to their grant program. None of the organizations interviewed reported giving grants that would cover full operating costs of a grant recipient's business. Reported grants ranged from a few thousand dollars to several hundred thousand dollars, however even on the higher end of that spectrum organizations reported that grant recipients were expected to either gather other investments or cover the rest of their operating costs themselves. One organization, Ohio EPA, reported having a matching grant

program for private businesses, allowing for smaller match amounts for non-profits and local governments.

Structure of decision-making boards

While most organizations reported having decision making authority over grant funding, TCEQ and SC Department of Commerce reported a lack of authority in deciding recycling grant investments as their state governments had separate departments which managed grants in general. In these two states, the governments did not have unique grants for the recycling industry and recycling businesses needed to compete with all other industries. Additionally, Phoenix Public Works has a Solid Waste Advisory Committee consisting of business leaders and experts in the community that provide an advisory role for funding choices. Also, a center's organizational structure and host government agency may affect its decisions in rewarding grants.

Factors involved in grantmaking decisions

The centers we interviewed highlighted these seven grant award criteria:

- **Tonnage diverted** Most interviewees highlighted waste diversion and increased recycling processing capacity as key metrics when evaluating grant applications. MN PCA, for instance, only provides funding for applicants that can divert more than 500 tons of waste per year.
- **GHG emissions decreased** MI EGLE prioritize grant applicants that can quantify their potential impacts in decreasing GHG emissions through waste diversion or improved recycling processes, while CDPHE tracks the GHG emissions of grant recipients post award.
- **Economic impact** Most states assessed potential economic impact as a key metric for evaluating grant applications. CDPHE, IDEM, MN PCA, MO EIERA, and MI EGLE all consider potential job creation when evaluating grant applications. Additionally, MO EIERA reported assessing applicants based on avoided costs of wasted materials and disposal fees avoided.
- **Type of material** MI EGLE and MN PCA both reported material preferences as one of their key criteria in scoring grant applications each year. See section above about how they set material priorities.
- **Credibility and strength of business plan** Many interviewees noted that they aim to provide grants to organizations that have the expertise and finances to succeed. This includes having feedstock sources lined up or having buyers lined up to purchase feedstock produced by the project, for example.
 - Most interviewees excluded startups or research and development (R&D) projects from their grant programs, preferring to give funding to businesses that could prove a certain amount of economic viability. However, IDEM considers providing funding for exceptionally innovative R&D projects, while PA RMC may defray a portion of the costs of an R&D project based on availability of funding. CDPHE is the only the interviewee that mentioned giving grants to startup organizations, although only with a specific mini grant program.
 - While most interviewees provide grants for market development activities in general, both OH EPA and IDEM have simplified their grant processes by primarily investing in equipment that business cannot afford alone.

- PA RMC highlighted "believability" as a key metric when evaluating which organizations will be economically feasible long term. Factors such as experience, adequate staffing, and proven financial stability are examined by MN PCA, PA RMC, and OH EPA when deciding which organizations to provide grant funding.
- **Type of project** Additionally, supply side versus demand side needs may impact decisions on what projects to fund in a given year, such as investing in processing or collection infrastructure. IDEM's processes rest heavily on similar considerations.
- **Equity** This measure considers improvements to fairness in accessibility across a state, city, or region. As part of their scoring processes, both MN PCA and MI EGLE award points for grant applicants that can demonstrate how their projects will improve environmental justice and equity within their states.
- **Grant program statute** The CO Recycling Resources Economic Opportunity grant fund's dual objective of landfill diversion and job creation was established in the founding legislation. Similarly, the CO Front Range Waste Diversion grant program was set up to focus on tonnage diversion, though it also considers volume for lighter weight materials.

Evaluating grant impacts to demonstrate the center's impact and value

Interviewees mentioned continuing to monitor the progress of grant recipients as a way to ensure their funding dollars are having the intended impacts on the factors outlined in the previous section. Organizations typically rely on the self-reported expected tonnage of waste diverted from landfills and increased recycling capacity of grant applicants. Colorado requires business to report baseline and target amounts of expected waste diversion and requires progress reports every six months. Some Colorado businesses have had less waste diversion after six months than their self-reported baseline expectations, highlighting the difficulties of relying on self-reported expectations to award grants.

Case study: Missouri

In this section we discuss the grantmaking program of the MO EIERA in detail because of its long history in providing grants and its unique funding structure. MO EIERA found marketing grant opportunities to the right manufacturers challenging, an issue echoed by many other interviewees. To encourage applications, they try to make their application process as simple as possible. For example, many of the questions on their application have yes or no answers. They also provide pre-application consultations, and aid companies in completing the financial aspects of the application. Like many other interviewees, Missouri prioritizes funding in rural areas to increase the generally lower recycling access and infrastructure in those areas. They also prefer to offer grants to businesses that have already invested other assets in their project.

In their application they ask for potential tonnage diverted, job creation (broken down into part time, full time, and type of positions), avoided costs of materials landfilled, and disposal fees avoided as part of a unique scoring system.⁹⁹ Like most other interviewees, MO EIERA tends to reject research and development and startup grant applications, preferring to invest in equipment that will have a more near-term impact. One such example given was providing funding for new sorting equipment at Ripple Glass in Kansas City, a glass processing facility that serves around a 500-mile interstate radius. The new equipment allowed the facility to sort through and accept close to 80 percent of its discarded glass pile, allowing the business to add

two additional full-time employees and plan investment in similar sorting technology in their St. Louis facility. While Missouri has minimal reporting requirements, consisting of self-reported application data and site visits at the beginning and end of the grant project timeline, they attempt to gain the first position on liens for equipment for investment security.

Angie Powell, of MO EIERA, highlighted another example of how a successful grant program can help change local and state policies. MO EIERA funded a metering box that allowed Capital Materials, a local manufacturing firm, to use crumb rubber in asphalt. This new mix needed to be examined by the Missouri Department of Transportation. Since the mix surpassed the department's expectations, MO EIERA is optimistic that the Department of Transportation will change their required asphalt specifications, which will in turn influence cities and counties, creating momentum for a large recycling market development opportunity with asphalt.

Centers use both metrics and storytelling to influence audiences

Interviewees use a combination of quantitative metrics and narrative storytelling to strategically influence legislators, the general public, and members of the recycling industry. When sharing quantitative information, interviewees expressed the importance of using metrics that resonate with the specific audience and their goals, especially when speaking with legislators. Interviewees also highlighted the importance of sharing success stories and case studies to influence various audiences. As the interviewee at PA RMC stated, it can be "very difficult to quantify benefit. And as a result, we try to tell, we try to be a better storyteller." Metrics should be used when it helps tell the story better.

Efforts to influence legislators

Interviewees said that communicating with and influencing legislators is paramount to securing funding, advocating for beneficial policies, and allocating resources. They have developed successful communication strategies by framing arguments in terms of legislative goals (such as job creation or revenue generation), pointing to program success stories (such as case studies from communities in their state or other states), and allowing non-profit allies to advocate in political environments where public agencies cannot. Legislative goals vary from state to state, so the metrics used must be adapted accordingly.

Market development specialist Matt Flechter (MI EGLE) spoke about his interactions with legislators in growing Michigan's circular economy over the past 22 years:

"The ultimate reason we were able to be successful is we were able to make a strong case that Michigan was not a leader, and was falling behind, and other States were making progress that we were not able to capitalize on because investments weren't coming to our State. And ultimately, we wanted to be able to tell a story of a state that is environmentally minded that is able to attract investment into that space. So that's what worked in Michigan... The messaging that we used in the administration was specifically tailored to what was going to work because we listened to what our leaders' goals were. And frankly, with this particular leader or this governor, we needed to back everything up with measured data, and we came right out of the gate, creating this dashboard where we put things like Michigan's recycling rate, and we did it intentionally.... We needed to use that to say, look, you want to show progress. Look! This number is red. It hasn't moved. Why didn't it move? Well, it didn't move, because we didn't have investment. We didn't have what other States had, which was stable funding.

Matt Flechter, MI EGLE

Metrics about the economic impact of recycling are especially salient. In fact, several interviewees – Phoenix, IDEM, and TCEQ – mentioned that the primary purpose of gathering economic impact metrics is to share them with legislators.

Kyla Fisher at AMERIPEN stated the importance of noting what speaks to the specific legislators and framing the metrics accordingly: "What's the data I can get so I can make a convincing argument to my legislators about why they need to maintain my center?"

Efforts to influence the general public

Interviewees communicate with the general public to garner support, increase public participation in recycling initiatives, or provide education. For example, North and South Carolina got national attention by launching a "Your Bottle Means Jobs" information campaign that emphasizes the connection between recycling plastic bottles and creating local jobs.

Anna DeLage, Director of Recycling Market Development at the SC Department of Commerce, discussed the strategy which emphasizes:

"Storytelling around the people behind the bottles. The fact that your bottle becomes car parts, t-shirts, textiles, pillows, carpet — things that you just wouldn't know... We brought the industry together for the plastics recyclers in the Carolinas, and we asked, "What are your biggest challenges?" And they said, "We just can't get enough material. We need more supply. We've got the processing capacity; we just need more material." So, how do we capture more? Most of those bottles are coming from individuals, so we needed a business-to-consumer approach. So, we created that consumer strategy, which is, "When you recycle, I work" and "Your bottle means jobs."" – Anna DeLage, SC Department of Commerce

Additionally, many interviewed organizations relayed the importance of public education and participation. For example, several agencies acknowledged that they must invest in public education about recycling contamination and that such outreach takes public relations acumen, strategic messaging development, and an accessible easy-to-understand data display. A better-educated public is essential to reducing the contamination rate and the amount of materials ultimately going to landfills.

Efforts to influence industry

Interviewees often speak with members of the recycling industry to gain information, which we discussed in an earlier section. This section is about how interviewees use certain information to influence members of the industry.

Interviewees communicate with the recycling industry—both processors and manufacturers—to recruit businesses to relocate to their state or encourage manufacturers to increase their use of recycled feedstock. The key messages targeted to the industry include feedstock availability, revenue opportunity, and organization-specific incentives. For example, Kyla Fisher (AMERIPEN) stated:

"What is it that someone who is looking to locate a recycling facility would need to know? Do they need to know what's only within your state? Or do they need to know what the opportunity to sell is outside of your state, or the opportunity to collect material from the XY region?" – Kyla Fisher, AMERIPEN Similarly, Anna DeLage, SC Department of Commerce, explained that it is useful to provide the economic supply and demand metrics that resonate with the recycling companies. She said:

"If we have a company that wants to land in South Carolina, and they are a recycling company, they want to identify how much material they're going to need to be successful. We need to know the landscape. The more information we have, the better."

– Anna DeLage, SC Department of Commerce

Having data available to reference in these conversations is a benefit (e.g., current tonnage of recycled commodities generated by the state annually). Essentially, persuasive communication begins with understanding what your industry partner wants and needs to hear.

Advertising innovative technologies that industries can take advantage of can also be a useful approach. For example, Envision Charlotte, recognizing that they ship all their recycled glass to Atlanta at a loss, is conducting a pilot program with a local company to turn glass into sand. If successful, this effort will be marketed widely to the industries that might also take advantage of the innovation.

Another powerful influencing method is education and consultation. MassDEP provides free technical assistance to businesses and institutions to reduce waste, maximize recycling, and find reuse/recovery opportunities. This consultation approach is another direct way to encourage those who may be able to develop manufacturing options for recycled materials.

Overall, the effort to influence industry is about partnerships with industry, more than regulation. Industry must, like individuals, see a return for the risk they take on.

Additional findings: Planning, data processes, and alliances

This section discusses findings pertaining to how the factors and activities discussed in the previous sections come into play in organizational planning and how data challenges may stymie the effectiveness of these efforts. It closes with findings pertaining to how partnerships can help centers to expand their reach and alleviate resources constraints.

The role of comprehensive planning and measuring progress varies across agencies

Many of the topics discussed above come together in formal planning processes. All interviewees developed plans that identified overall goals, short- and long-term objectives, and activities. These strategic plans are often based on the realities of outreach, volume, funding, and stakeholder input. Prioritization of effort, for example, was sometimes based on an internal ranking process as well as project bandwidth. Plans changed as original objectives were found to be unfeasible, too expensive, or misdirected. Senior staff changes also sometimes resulted in plan modifications. COVID conditions resulted in slowdowns for some planning processes.

Formal planning processes

Formal planning processes for interviewees usually involved the creation of a comprehensive master plan with strategic long-range goals, an effort often supported by outside consultant groups. Annual reviews of such plans were mentioned frequently. Stakeholder identification was conducted early in the process. From the Master Plan, which carried the larger vision of the goal, spun more targeted plans, including Market Development Plans, Climate Action Plans, Public Engagement Plans, Data Management Plans, Solid Waste Management Plans, and Governance Plans. Plans are generally aligned with those of other government agencies and are situated into larger strategies at the state or federal levels.

Limitations of the annual budget process

Municipalities voiced concern regarding decision-making timelines due to the lengthy cycle times and bureaucratic obstacles required for budgeting and financing the plans. Nimbleness and flexibility are important to interface with manufacturing and supply chains but are not typical characteristics of cities eager to strengthen the recycling value chain. For example, SERDC's Will Sagar mentioned that "local governments are not in a position to deal with the flex of fluctuating markets," due to the limitations and slow process of the annual budget and planning cycles. In addition, as in Phoenix, funding can be reallocated to other projects, slowing down the development and implementation of plans. Ultimately, directives and priorities that have come from the legislation influence the budget process, which in turn impacts public organization resource allocation and planning decisions. As such, a nonprofit agency may have more responsiveness and capability of partnerships to carry out municipal plans.

A spectrum of formal and informal strategic planning processes

For interviewees, planning ranges on a continuum from formal to opportunistic. Both PPW and MI EGLE sustain more formal planning, although their goals are different. For PPW, planning has been top-down, driven by several concerned mayors over the last 10 years, which resulted in a progressive Climate Action Plan and a Zero Waste & Circular Economy Roadmap planning process. This includes a public engagement process and detailed action plans for reaching 2030 and 2050 milestones. PPW partnered with Arizona State University to conduct important waste stream studies that informed plans to develop the Resource Innovation Campus.

Meanwhile, MI EGLE's planning processes are designed to encourage legislators, the public, local government and the business community—through storytelling, data, policy development, and messaging—that stable funding and local planning would result in more progress in environmentally sustainable achievements. In part, MI EGLE links their planning effort to availability of funding, stating, "Resources are so tight that we have to be very strategic about what we do." However, they also prioritize "capacity building at the local level" rather than launching specific circular economy initiatives themselves. In practice, MI EGLE facilitates local governments and organizations in setting reasonable goals, based on funding and state policy: "The planning process is going to activate and get people there so that we can actually just start the conversation. Figure out what can be done."

Non-profits, on the other hand, may operate more opportunistically and less based on formal plans than public agencies. For example, on a limited discretionary basis, PA RMC may elect to complete projects that are not specifically delineated in their work plan with the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection. At times, planning can be flexible and able to respond rapidly to requests. Similarly, Envision Charlotte's planning is fluid and responds creatively to requests for support from various project initiatives. Amy Aussieker explained that their adaptive process as an innovation center includes asking, "How can we make the biggest impacts? What partners do we bring in? How do we get quick wins that lead to longer-term success?"

Formalized ranking systems

Ranking systems are often used for grant decisions. Some interviewees use formal scoring systems: processes designed to rank alternatives according to a points-based or other mathematical system. Notable programs that used specific scoring tools included IDEM, MN PCA, MI EGLE, and MO EIERA. Rankings and prioritization are described in detail in the earlier sections on grant decision-making processes. As discussed in earlier sections, many other organizations make decisions without a formal ranking system, based on many factors including stakeholder engagement.

Progress and accountability

Interviewees use various methods for measuring and reporting their progress. Reporting was both formal, consisting of internally or externally prepared and published reports, or less formal, characterized by discussions with oversight management like state agencies or boards of directors. Nevertheless, all interviewees identified a requirement to account for program activities and strategic/tactical progress using either qualitative or quantitative data, budgetary accounts, structural, process, or outcome milestones, anecdotal reports, or other types of summaries to one or many stakeholders.

Data issues impact program operations

Challenges acquiring, managing, and interpreting data often limit centers' ability to effectively use quantitative metrics in their decision-making and program operations. The first part of this section presents an overview of data and goal misalignment, difficulties with data acquisition and use, and data gaps several centers face. The section closes by describing how these challenges present when attempting to acquire data about supply chain capacity.

Goal and data alignment

Across interviewees there was general agreement on the importance of setting organizational goals and using quantitative metrics to measure progress against those goals, with few exceptions. Determining the appropriate metrics to measure progress can be challenging. Uncertainty about goals at higher levels of an organization can make measuring those goals difficult at lower levels of the organization. For instance, uncertainty about whether a zero-waste goal applies to a municipality or metro area creates uncertainty about whether the data collected should focus on internal solid waste programs or on external partnership development.

Targeting data tightly to specific projects can limit the ability of a center to use its collected data to make decisions about its scope of projects. Some centers found it difficult to obtain organizational support for ongoing broad data collection that would help them prioritize projects. Timed cycles for comprehensive report development can help to mitigate this challenge, however funding reauthorization can pose challenges due to changing priorities or political realignments. Many organizations did not act on recommendations in comprehensive reports, sometimes due to limited jurisdiction, and instead used report results primarily as a communication tool with legislators or the public. Some organizations had challenges aligning expectations with third parties who conducted comprehensive studies about scope or methodology, limiting the usefulness of these studies in program operations.

Focusing too early on a popular metric is another challenge to goal and data alignment. In Michigan early political support for recycling volume metrics resulted in large infrastructure investments to enhance collection. However, volume metrics can be slow to respond to infrastructure investments as they depend on program uptake as well. This delay makes it challenging for Michigan to both see and advertise progress, which may reduce public support for continued investment overtime. Many economic metrics, for instance job creation, can have similar delays. NERC noticed similar challenges when a state agency focuses too strongly on either quality or volume metrics, to the exclusion of the other. Too strong a focus on quality discourages expansion. Too strong a focus on volume can result in high contamination rates.

Logistical and technical challenges to data acquisition and use

Different expectations between organizations about what it means to collect data can limit the ability of centers to partner with each other and with third parties to enhance knowledge sharing. Centers who perceive themselves as data-focused have a wide range of data storage and analysis practices, including keeping key metrics in handwritten notes, manually maintaining spreadsheets of project relevant quantitative information, contracting out most or all of their data collection and analysis to third parties, and having extensive data warehousing systems. Comprehensive analyses may require more data than centers have available or there may be a mismatch between center records and the quality of data needed for a firm to complete work.

Similarly, different jurisdictions, regions, and scenarios may require or simply result in methodological differences in metric computation. These differences make it difficult to compare metrics between centers and supply chain members. Differences in recycling protocols and the myriad of ways to compute environmental impacts exemplify this challenge. Across the supply chain and across geographies, even the same metrics computed the same way result in comparison difficulties. For instance, even if per capita glass recycling volume metrics match, a glass-kiln in California may be powered using solar-generated electricity, whereas the same kiln in Pennsylvania may be powered using natural gas, resulting in dramatically different environmental impacts. Within a single jurisdiction, population and product changes may make volume metrics difficult to compare, and metrics may change over time to more accurately reflect scenarios a center is facing. For instance, one interviewee mentioned thinner plastics used in beverage containers relative to twenty years ago make tonnage comparisons difficult. It is difficult to compare metrics even within a single center without grounding in the center's history.

Technical and methodological challenges do not just limit metric comparisons. Several centers noted challenges integrating the results of environmental impact modeling tools into their program operations. Interviewees mentioned that these tools sometimes consider environmentally focused decisions using a substantially different framing from those interviewees typically use. For instance, a tool used in Minnesota suggests that glass baby food containers made from recycled and recyclable glass have a larger carbon footprint than recyclable baby food pouches made from virgin plastic. While the former generates more emissions in transport to recycling facilities, it is a fully circular product. The latter introduces new virgin plastic into the waste stream. Similarly, in some instances EPA WARM suggests that high carbon yard waste into soil results in some greenhouse gas emissions. In these examples, tools focused on carbon footprint specifically, to the exclusion of other circular economy principles.

Capacity constraints make it difficult for centers to compile data for use in program determinations. Large data volume is one concern. Resource needs are higher to make collected data valuable for decision-making versus for general organizational knowledge due to the need to both identify pertinent details instead of general themes and contextualize these details in ongoing decision-making processes. MassDEP collects extensive data related to waste and recycling. They have several staff who work with conducting entry, review, quality assurance, and analysis of this data. TCEQ and SC Department of Commerce shared the importance of automating data processes to enhance capacity in the long run but acknowledged that doing so requires large upfront investments in data infrastructure. Despite the upfront cost, these investments are often best made early. Delaying may result in additional costs to remedy existing processes or limit collaboration opportunities. Envision Charlotte mentioned challenges beginning a collaboration with a consulting firm due to the limited data systems they had in place. Additionally, state-level investment creates spillover effects, enhancing data access for local governments and the public. While we were unable to interview representatives from the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, the data portal they provide is an excellent example of the potential of such efforts.¹⁰⁰

Logistical challenges often reduce the quality of survey data, making it difficult for centers to use in program decisions. Effective surveys require appropriate infrastructure support, including outreach efforts, databases to track responses, and easy ways for respondents to return responses. Long or complex surveys are unlikely to receive many responses.

Finally, even when centers make decisions using solid data, unconsidered implementation details may lead to unexpected results. For instance, logistical implementation challenges stymied Envision Charlotte's well-considered decisions to assist with recycling hospital linens and campaign signs.

Data gaps

Interviewees shared several types of information they would like to have to improve their program operations but that they did not currently have access to:

- Fine-grained volume measures that include greater detail on material and location can help centers to focus outreach messaging to reduce contamination. Tying this information to particular building types, residential arrangements, and hauler routes can help to identify effective local equipment and infrastructure investments.
- Detailed supply chain information, as discussed in the landscape analysis section, is often difficult to obtain. We discuss these challenges in depth in the next section. Here we note that additional information about the entire circular economy supply chain, including repair and reuse, may aid in identifying appropriate markets to develop.
- Information about the breadth of use of infrastructure in surrounding communities can help to assess equity impacts. For instance, Michigan invested in a paper shredder in one community under the assumption that it would also benefit many surrounding communities, many of which had a history of low infrastructure investment.
- Information about individual-level engagement with programs, such as attendance and learning outcomes, can help to target outreach activities and messaging for future events.
- Information about interactions between different people at conferences can help people across the supply chain to generate leads. Unfortunately, this type of information is especially difficult to track.

Challenges of collecting and using data from across the supply chain

As noted above in the section on stakeholder engagement, accurate data about the location of feedstock, processing capacity, manufacturing capacity, material transportation capacity, and actual material flows are essential to market development program prioritization. In particular, these data can help centers make effective and efficient use of limited internal capacity. Supply chain entities are often reluctant to provide centers with detailed information on their operations. This section discusses difficulties that arise when centers try to obtain this information, limiting their ability to use supply chain information effectively in their program decisions.

Many types of supply chain information are difficult for centers to collect including:

- Material flows from collection, though processing, to end-use manufacturing
- Feedstock availability, contamination, and location
- MRF material throughput, potential throughput, and related capacity-related information including equipment, shifts, and employment
- Manufacturers use of virgin versus recycled materials in their products, the potential of manufacturers to expand recycled feedstock use, and where manufacturers are located

Information about material origination is difficult to obtain because haulers often will not share material volumes without contractual obligations in place. Depending on their routes, information they do report may conflate volumes across multiple jurisdictions. Business-to-business arrangements for direct transportation of waste to processors further complicate

obtaining this information. MO EIERA noted recently discovering a large tire recycling program by an in-state business, for instance.

Interviewees shared that information about processors' throughput is often difficult to obtain without regulatory reporting obligations. Sometimes recycling regulation limits reporting requirements to promote the creation of more recyclers. Without detailed requirements, processors report how much material arrives at their facility disregarding how much is usable and how much processed material is sold. Resulting numbers may suggest higher volume metrics than are true in practice. Some interviewees noted that while processors typically did not report throughput, they also did not strongly oppose regulation obligating them to do so.

Interviewees found information about manufacturer use of recycled materials even more difficult to obtain. Manufacturers typically have a high rate of survey and phone call nonresponse, often declining to even verify information centers have obtained through other means. Several centers shared that personalized efforts to encourage engagement have had only limited results on improving survey participation. Reasons interviewees posited for manufacturers declining to provide detailed information include:

- Desire to maintain a business advantage: Specific concerns here include disclosing market position, pressure on pricing models, and disclosure of internal processes or trade secrets.
- Worry about negative press: Disclosing job cuts may create a negative public impression of a business. More broadly, NERC shared that many businesses worry that "the public does not trust recycled content."
- Not maintaining internal records: If recycled material use is not a marketing point for a business, they may not track the information centers are looking for.
- Material use may fluctuate often or dramatically, based on pricing, for instance.

Even when strong relationships with companies result in substantial data sharing, this exchange can stop abruptly when a liaison or a senior company representative leaves their role.

Information that supply chain entities provide can be difficult for centers to use effectively without proper verification. Inaccurately reported material needs may result in market inefficiencies. For instance, a processor contracted by PPW was unable to obtain the quantities of materials needed to sustain their business model. Inaccurately reported economic benefits can result in negative press when accurate values come to light. Businesses may double count positive impacts that could be claimed by others to increase positive recognition and may undercount other economic metrics due to lack of interest.

Centers reported turning to recycling, trade, and academic publications to find partial supply chain information. Some centers engaged in more extensive investigations, including constructing mathematical models of throughput and using cars in business parking lots on Google Maps to estimate job creation. Many reported that capacity constraints (both time and expertise) severely limited their ability to engage in these types of detailed investigations or to verify supply chain information that was provided. Centers may turn to third parties to conduct these types of analyses. Third parties can also often acquire data and act as aggregators, preserving privacy of manufacturers while making useful information publicly available.

Interviewees rely on alliances to achieve their missions

Several interviewees mentioned that partnerships with non-profits were crucial to fulfilling their mission. These groups offer valuable funding, staff, and expertise to advance market development. For example, TCEQ partners closely with the State of Texas Alliance for Recycling (STAR), which was the driving force behind getting funding from the legislature for two major TCEQ recycling studies. MassDEP funds the Center for EcoTechnology's Recycling Works program, which provides technical assistance to help businesses recover recyclable and compostable material (among other services). As Sean Sylver at MassDEP said, "It has been so helpful to us to have that model where we have an organization that we contract with that are experts in the field."

Economic development entities are also valuable partners. Circular Matters suggests partnering with state and local economic development entities to advanced shared goals. Ohio EPA works with Jobs Ohio, which recruits businesses to the state, and MO EIERA reaches out to local economic development offices.

Working with private companies can also be beneficial. Minnesota PCA mentioned partnering with private companies like Target and General Mills to help recruit a plastic film processor to the state. AMERIPEN also suggested working with the Recycling Partnership, a national organization funded by large corporations and industry associations.¹⁰¹ As Kyla Fisher from AMERIPEN stated:

"I think business right now is acutely aware of the need for recycled content. Whether you're a car manufacturer, a solar manufacturer, or a packaging company, I think more and more businesses are recognizing that there's a value to reuse, and so the more partnerships that we can create with business, I think the more leverage you're going to get to meet these goals." – Kyla Fisher, AMERIPEN

Advice from interviewees

Many of our interviewees provided explicit advice to aid the RDC as it continues to grow as an organization. This section categorizes and summarizes that advice.

Stay on mission

Circular Matters and PA RMC advise that with a small staff, it is important to be wary of projects that are not central to a center's goals. Be wary of projects that make use of staff member skills but are outside core objectives. MI EGLE adds to choose project-focused metrics that reflect these objectives and are tailored to the outcomes desired from the specific project. General volume metrics, such as recycling rate, are difficult to use for this purpose. Instead, choose metrics focused on expanding access, creating new material opportunities, market generation, and influencing individual actions. Be mindful to collect information that will assist you in making decisions and evaluating progress, which may be qualitative instead of quantitative. Also, Envision Charlotte and AMERIPEN suggest collecting data that demonstrates success measures that are meaningful to your funders and business stakeholders.

Build relationships

All interviewees stressed that investing time to create trustful relationships with stakeholders enhances long-term outcomes, including with:

- **Businesses**: Providing business assistance and striving to understand business barriers strengthens relationships and improves cooperation. Making data products that are valuable to companies raises the willingness of those companies to share information about their operations. Strong relationships with dominant market players may enhance the trust of smaller players. AMERIPEN and NERC in particular encouraged engaging with business-funded market development initiatives and industry associations to better understand needs and build relationships. As trust develops with these organizations, synergies in goals may influence their projects, expanding the reach of a resource-constrained center. CDPHE suggested that startups and tech accelerators have novel approaches to market development that may make developing partnerships with such firms beneficial.
- **Recycling nonprofits**: The goals of these groups often overlap with center goals, making them a natural source of support. Further, they are often less constrained in their modes of operation than centers are. They may be able to support center objectives through legislative advocacy or centers may be able to influence their project selection, effectively expanding center resources.
- **Public economic development agencies**: Many interviewees suggested engaging with business stakeholders through commerce and economic development focused agencies may accelerate relationship development because businesses stakeholders will initially have more trust in these agencies. To build a strong working relationship with public economic development staff, find common ground between their agency mission statements and the center's objectives. Focus early conversations on how building a circular economy is economic development.
- **Other agencies**: Building an interagency network helps centers to better use their existing funding by making use of common tools, aligning goals, creating coalitions of recycling supporters within government, and increasing awareness of additional funding mechanisms. MI EGLE noted particular benefits of such coalitions during planning cycles.
- National peers: Communicating with peers at other centers encourages knowledge sharing and allows centers to leverage the experiences of others in similar situations when facing new challenges.

Look across borders to understand markets

Look broadly for where there are markets and what it takes to move materials to them to ensure supply and demand are in balance. Many interviewees recommended investing early to identify processing capacity, competition, and end market opportunities to see what barriers exist. Circular Matters encouraged centers to select barriers to work on that they have the authority to address, use resources efficiently, and will have a large impact once removed. Materials travel across state lines, and so should these analyses. A narrow focus may ignore important market drivers. SERDC was particularly supportive of broad supply chain analyses.

Plan surveys carefully

While collecting supply chain information is difficult, interviewees suggested some remedies to improve limited engagement while a center is still developing stakeholder relationships. Many interviewees emphasized including data collection terms in contracts can improve the quality and quantity of information collected. SERDC discussed the importance of providing assistance to localities in improving related practices. Often MRFs are not resistant to data reporting requirements, especially if they are able to use data products developed with this information to enhance their sales. Many interviewees mentioned MRF reporting requirements as essential. Collaboratively developing reporting requirements with MRFs has the potential to be a mutually beneficial enterprise, especially as they may have particular insight into beneficial contamination metrics. Many interviewees reported that to enhance data collection from other types of manufacturers, working through a third-party firm who will collect and aggregate data while ensuring business confidentiality often gets stronger results than publicly run collection efforts. Regardless, TCEQ shared that strategic outreach efforts to encourage participation and find appropriate contacts are also beneficial. Plan for uncertainty in results, as it is unlikely survey responses will report full information.

View data processes as program operations

View data collection, analysis, and maintenance as part of standard program operations. A municipality we interviewed emphasized the importance of explicitly planning for goal-definition, metric selection, data collection, data use, and incorporating data in decision-making, including resource estimates. Doing so will enable centers to value data program development against other objectives, including enhancing understanding of how a data program contributes to other program components. While developing organized state-level data systems is resource intensive, investing in these systems accelerates data use in the long run and frees up resources for use in analysis and other program functions, notes MassDEP and TCEQ. Such systems become more difficult to implement over time, as dependency on existing inadequate infrastructure grows. Data systems can act as a resource for multiple entities, other departments, other levels and branches of government, and the public.

Align with the EPA

PA RMC suggested that aligning with the EPA National Recycling Strategy as it continues to unfold increases the likelihood of centers being able to take advantage of federal funding opportunities in recycling market development and circular economy more generally. Portions of this plan focus on data standards and equity improvements. While there has been limited action to date, as centers continue to develop data and equity programs, contributing to EPA discussions on these topics will influence and enhance their own programs and the national conversation.

Innovate

Some centers we spoke with are integrating novel technologies into their operations to improve program outcomes, including but not limited to: electrifying hauling truck fleets to reduce emissions, using on-truck cameras to assess household-level contamination, and incorporating artificial intelligence into industry trend analysis and data collection.

Chapter 5: Recommendations

This chapter provides recommendations for the RDC based on our literature review and interview findings. The RDC's small staff is faced with limited funding and a broad mandate for recycling market development (see Appendix 1). Our recommendations aim to help the RDC shape its process for choosing which activities and materials to prioritize. We are recommending decision-making elements for the RDC to consider, rather than recommending particular metrics or a specific prioritization method.

We aligned recommendations with our interview findings, the RDC's constraints, and the mandates of the RDC founding legislation. Overall, these recommendations are consistent with the RDC's current legislative directives, and particularly emphasize partnership building, data processes, and programmatic decision-making.

When creating its prioritization methods, we recommend that the RDC:

- 1. Engage stakeholders in the recycling supply chain to help shape priorities, invest in impactful projects, and create a network of allies.
- 2. Rely on allies outside the supply chain to expand functional reach, while prioritizing activities that allies cannot undertake.
- 3. Consider the Washington recycling supply chain's capacity, challenges, and needs when choosing which recyclable materials to prioritize.
- 4. Develop strong standards, processes, and systems to mitigate data challenges when relying on quantitative metrics to guide prioritization and operations.
- 5. Incorporate equity into program decisions by developing clear and formal equity-related processes for RDC programs.

Recommendation 1: Engage stakeholders in the supply chain



Engaging stakeholders in the recycling supply chain can guide the RDC towards impactful projects and, over time, create a network of allies.

Identify members of the supply chain

The first step is to identify as many members of the supply chain as possible (MRFs, processors, manufacturers, etc.), which the RDC has already begun to do. The RDC funded a King County study that identified 11 MRFs and 6 plastic processors.¹⁰² It has located 79 paper processing facilities,¹⁰³ several glass processing and manufacturing facilities,¹⁰⁴ and 88 companies that manufacture plastics.¹⁰⁵ Recent reports written in partnership with Western Washington University identify MRFs, material wholesalers, and processors using NAICS (North American Industry Classification System) codes.¹⁰⁶

- Widen your net beyond the typical NAICS codes.
 - Many companies that are not classified as recyclers are involved in processing recyclable material or using recycled feedstock. For example, MO EIERA works with a trucking company that also happens to recycle tires. PA RMC's 2017 economic impact study with IHS Markit Economics identified 6,400 companies in the state's recycling

ecosystem, including many with NAICS codes that hadn't been included in previous studies. They used a combination of staff expertise about the recycling industry and IHS Markit's proprietary database.

- Include manufacturers that are not currently using recycled feedstock but could in the future.
- Work with economic development organizations and industry associations and use resources like <u>Choose Washington</u>.
- Reach out to <u>Impact Washington</u> and mine information used by EPA to develop their Recycling Infrastructure and Market Opportunities Map.¹⁰⁷
- After identifying supply chain companies in Washington, look across state lines to Idaho, Oregon, and British Columbia as well.
- In addition to cataloging supply chain members, also identify market gaps such as a lack of plastic processing facilities, for example.

Build relationships and gather information from supply chain members

Once you've identified supply chain members, build relationships with and seek information from them. This aligns with the RDC's founding legislation, which says to "undertake studies on the unmet capital and other needs of reprocessing and manufacturing firms using recycled materials" and "conduct research to understand the waste stream supply chain."¹⁰⁸

- Use forums and interviews to discover 1) the amount and type(s) of materials each company produces or buys and 2) barriers that prevent them from processing more recyclable material or using more feedstock in manufacturing processes. Example barriers include:
 - MRFs and material processors: contamination, lack of equipment capacity, lack of demand for bales/feedstock, operating costs, etc.
 - Manufacturers: lack of feedstock supply, cost of feedstock, quality of feedstock, lack of necessary equipment, lack of desire to use feedstock, regulatory barriers, etc.
- Optimize the method of engagement for forums and interviews.
 - Let RDC staff at the Department of Commerce take the lead.
 - Convene forums around a specific type of material.
 - Avoid long written surveys; conversations are more beneficial.
 - Seek only actionable information (e.g., knowing precisely who buys from or sells to whom, and at what price, may or may not be actionable for the RDC).
 - To protect private information (and encourage participation), use confidentiality agreements and contract with third-party researchers where appropriate.
- Demonstrate to participants how sharing information with the RDC will ultimately bring them value. For example, having more complete information will allow the RDC to:
 - Better facilitate connections in the recycling industry.
 - Help MRFs and processors locate potential buyers.
 - Help manufacturers locate recycled feedstock.
 - Recruit new processors and manufacturers to the state using information about available feedstock, which brings new customers to MRFs.

- Promote products that are made using recycled feedstock (if the manufacturer wants that information to be publicized).
- Strategically focus its efforts on programs that address recycling entities' challenges (e.g., recommending funding opportunities, increasing collection or reducing contamination of a certain material, advocating for regulatory changes or sales tax exemptions, conducting relevant research).

Overall, building relationships with and learning from supply chain members will help the RDC effectively prioritize its efforts and can lead to some companies becoming long-term allies.

Recommendation 2: Rely on allies to expand RDC reach



Our second recommendation is to work with allies outside of the supply chain to expand the RDC's reach. Partnerships can enhance success by leveraging much needed project support, funding, and staff bandwidth to pursue interventions that align with the RDC's mission but are outside its jurisdiction or its funding capacity.

To start, the RDC should expand its collaboration-building to other departments across Washington State government agencies and local municipalities as well as economic development agencies and nonprofit partners. For example, CDPHE has various divisions involved in meeting components of their integrated waste management plan as well as strong ties to local municipalities across the state. Several interviewees also described a broad network of organizations and/or businesses that they partner with to accomplish projects, such as MA Recycling Works (focused on recycling assistance to businesses and communities), Job Ohio (a state-authorized private economic development corporation), or Texas STAR (a 501c3 nonprofit advancing recycling through partnerships, education, and advocacy for the benefit of Texas). These types of partnerships can functionally expand the RDC's reach.

Next, the RDC could invite stakeholders from advocacy groups, government agencies, industry associations, community groups, and other relevant entities to support its operations. This would provide a similar benefit to the advisory board but expand the voices included. Volunteer and stakeholder support has bolstered other agencies by extending their staff, such as Envision Charlotte's ongoing use of volunteers to support their innovation and education center operations, or MassDEP's use of public stakeholder working group meetings to guide the development of its Recycling Market Development Action Plan. Michigan also discussed the vital importance of having a strong independent stakeholder advisory group. These networks can expand the RDC's knowledge base and outreach potential.

Finally, we appreciate that the RDC already has alignments and projects with University of Washington, Washington State University, and Western Washington University. We recommend continuation of joint projects with these academic settings and expansion of programs into new departments (e.g., communications, marketing, economics, environmental sciences). The Phoenix Mayor's Office commissioned Arizona State University to conduct a GHG emissions inventory and a waste characterization study that identified the environmental impacts of the "business as usual" scenario of landfilling valuable recyclable material. These studies ultimately resulted in the formation of their Resource Innovation Campus. The non-profit PA RMC maintains an affiliation

with Penn State University to strengthen the demand side of the recycling industry. The RDC should continue to leverage the research, enthusiasm, and skills of their university affiliations.

We recommend that the RDC continue developing its efforts to build a regional commitment to the circular economy — perhaps using MassDEP's model of multiple working groups drawn from the public, industry, academia, and government. The RDC's founding legislation already has such a scope, as defined by representing "the state in regional and national market development issues and work to create a regional recycling development council that will work across either state or provincial borders, or both."¹⁰⁹ Implementing this recommendation starts with a dedicated effort to tell a compelling story at the right time and to the right audiences. These stories should have a regional lens, backed by legislation, in order to assure a strong mandate and broad reach.

Recommendation 3: Choose material priorities pragmatically



When it comes to choosing which recyclable materials to prioritize, the RDC's founding legislation says that after an "initial focus on mixed waste paper and plastics," the center must focus on "developing markets for commodities comprising a significant percentage of the waste stream."¹¹⁰

As discussed in Chapter 4, the volume of certain recyclable materials going to landfills is just one of many factors that centers consider when choosing material priorities. In fact, some individual interviewees mentioned multiple factors – meaning that they do not have a rigid system for choosing priorities and may be influenced by different factors at different times.

Therefore, when choosing among materials that "comprise a significant percentage of the waste stream," we recommend that the RDC consider 1) Washington's recycling supply chain landscape and capacity and 2) feedback from stakeholders in the supply chain about their challenges and needs (see Recommendation 1). If appropriate, also consider other factors listed Chapter 4, such as GHG emissions and emerging markets.

Considering these elements will help the RDC choose priority materials for which it can make the largest impact with its limited resources, and it will further strengthen relationships with stakeholders.

Recommendation 4: Develop data processes and standards



Continuing to develop processes, standards, and systems for data collection and analysis will help mitigate many of the data challenges discussed in Chapter 4 and increase the ease and speed of data integration over time, freeing RDC resources for use in other areas. In addition to data system development, we recommend paying close attention to what data is collected and how it will be used in the RDC's

processes and decision-making. Doing so will improve decision accuracy, organizational focus, and contingency planning.

Using common data practices across RDC's partner organizations will improve metric comparability and increase insight into supply and demand misalignment when associated data come from different sources.

- We recommend working with local governments to understand reporting differences across Washington and establish common standards. Use these conversations to understand local needs in the development of state-level data processes for recycling market data.
- Use engagement with supply chain stakeholders, as discussed in Recommendation 1, to
 understand the types of data that could most benefit supply chain participants. Several
 interviewees indicated MRFs may be more open to reporting than other supply chain
 members. As relationships with MRFs develop over time, work with them to develop
 reporting requirements to enable the collection of data and development of related
 deliverables that would benefit them as well as the RDC. For instance, publicizing feedstock
 availability may increase demand. Advocate for appropriate legislation and regulation that
 encompasses these reporting requirements.

Following stakeholder conversations, design and develop appropriate state-level data processes and databases to meet stakeholder needs and curate market data for the RDC's own use. Given the challenges with recycling rate goals discussed in Chapter 4, including inaccuracy and delays in seeing impact, metrics tailored to specific RDC objectives will be more fruitful for the organization. Additionally, creating several goals across multiple projects will allow the RDC to assess progress across several areas simultaneously.

As the RDC develops metrics and qualitative criteria, they should simultaneously develop procedures to appropriately incorporate them into their processes. Documenting limitations in these processes, measures, the data supporting them, and their intended use can enhance contingency planning. Reviewing this documentation to evaluate and evolve practices on a regular cadence will help the RDC to mature in its use of data and qualitative criteria over time.

We also encourage the RDC to engage in conversations with the EPA to influence and align with standards they develop as part of their National Recycling Strategy.

Recommendation 5: Incorporate equity into decisions



To ensure that recycling development programs work well for all residents of Washington, and to comply with the equity and environmental justice requirements of the Washington State HEAL Act, we recommend developing clear and formal equity-related processes for RDC programs. Common factors in use by interviewees include curbside and drop-off recycling accessibility, facility

placement, and incorporating voices from underserved communities. We also recommend the RDC consider factors included in the World Health Organization's report Circular Economy and Health.¹¹¹ Developing these practices and measures will require specialized expertise. Given the limited staff of the RDC, we suggest making use of Ecology's <u>Office of Equity & Environmental</u> <u>Justice</u> to design processes that incorporate equity appropriately.

Appendix 1: Founding Legislation for the Washington Recycling Development Center

<u>RCW 70A.240.030</u>: Recycling development center—Creation—Purpose and duties—Report to the legislature and governor—Interagency agreement—Rules.^f

- 1. The Recycling Development Center is created within the Department of Ecology.
- 2. The purpose of the center is to provide or facilitate basic and applied research and development, marketing, and policy analysis in furthering the development of markets and processing for recycled commodities and products. As used in this chapter, market development consists of public and private activities that are used to overcome impediments preventing full and productive use of secondary materials diverted from the waste stream, and that encourage and expand use of those materials and subsequent products. In fulfilling this mission, the center must initially direct its services to businesses that transform or remanufacture waste materials into usable or marketable materials or products for use rather than disposal.
- 3. The center must perform the following activities:
 - Develop an annual work plan. The work plan must describe actions and recommendations for developing markets for commodities comprising a significant percentage of the waste stream and having potential for use as an industrial or commercial feedstock, with initial focus on mixed waste paper and plastics;
 - b. Evaluate, analyze, and make recommendations on state policies that may affect markets for recyclable materials. Such recommendations must include explicit consideration of the costs and benefits of the market-effecting policies, including estimates of the anticipated: Rate impacts on solid waste utility ratepayers; impacts on the prices of consumer goods affected by the recommended policies; and impacts on rates of recycling or utilization of postconsumer materials;
 - c. Work with manufacturers and producers of packaging and other potentially recyclable materials on their work to increase the ability of their products to be recycled or reduced in Washington;
 - d. Initiate, conduct, or contract for studies relating to market development for recyclable materials, including but not limited to applied research, technology transfer, life-cycle analysis, and pilot demonstration projects;
 - e. Obtain and disseminate information relating to market development for recyclable materials from other state and local agencies and other sources;
 - f. Contract with individuals, corporations, trade associations, and research institutions for the purposes of this chapter;
 - g. Provide grants or contracts to local governments, state agencies, or other public institutions to further the development or revitalization of recycling markets in accordance with applicable rules and regulations;

^fURL: https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=70A.240.030

- h. Provide business and marketing assistance to public and private sector entities within the state;
- i. Represent the state in regional and national market development issues and work to create a regional recycling development council that will work across either state or provincial borders, or both;
- j. Wherever necessary, the center must work with: Material recovery facility operators; public and private sector recycling and solid waste industries; packaging manufacturers and retailers; local governments; environmental organizations; interested colleges and universities; and state agencies, including the department of commerce and the utilities and transportation commission; and
- k. Report to the legislature and the governor each even-numbered year on the progress of achieving the center's purpose and performing the center's activities, including any effects on state recycling rates or rates of utilization of postconsumer materials in manufactured products that can reasonably be attributed, at least in part, to the activities of the center.
- 4. In order to carry out its responsibilities under this chapter, the department must enter into an interagency agreement with the department of commerce to perform or contract for the following activities:
 - a. Provide targeted business assistance to recycling businesses, including:
 - i. Development of business plans;
 - ii. Market research and planning information;
 - iii. Referral and information on market conditions; and
 - iv. Information on new technology and product development;
 - b. Conduct outreach to negotiate voluntary agreements with manufacturers to increase the use of recycled materials in products and product development;
 - c. Support, promote, and identify research and development to stimulate new technologies and products using recycled materials;
 - d. Actively promote manufacturing with recycled commodities, as well as purchasing of recycled products by state agencies consistent with and in addition to the requirements of chapter 43.19A RCW and RCW 39.26.255, local governments, and the private sector;
 - e. Undertake studies on the unmet capital and other needs of reprocessing and manufacturing firms using recycled materials, such as financing and incentive programs; and
 - f. Conduct research to understand the waste stream supply chain and incentive strategies for retention, expansion, and attraction of innovative recycling technology businesses.
- 5. The department may adopt any rules necessary to implement and enforce this chapter including, but not limited to, measures for the center's performance.

Appendix 2: Key Government Agencies that Focus on Recycling in WA

This appendix describes how government agencies in Washington State influence or manage various aspects of the recycling process.

Some agencies are concerned with optimizing how recyclable materials are collected from homes and businesses (through curbside or drop-off service) and transported to a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) to be sorted and baled. These include:

- Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology) Solid Waste Management program
 - Provide education and outreach to the public about recycling and waste reduction
 - o Collaborate with local governments to reduce contamination
 - Regulate permit-exempted MRFs and processing facilities
- City and County governments
 - Operate collection and transport services (or contract with private companies for these services)
 - Provide education and outreach to the public to reduce contamination
 - Promote recycling, reuse, and repair
 - o Develop local Solid Waste and Hazardous Waste Management Plans
 - Regulate permitted MRFs and processing facilities
- Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC)
 - Regulate solid waste carriers
 - Review and approve rate changes for solid waste carriers

Some of those same agencies are also concerned with optimizing how recyclable material is processed into feedstock and used by manufacturers as raw material. These include:

- Ecology Solid Waste Management program
 - Regulate processors of recyclable materials
- City and County governments
 - Invest in recycling market development
- Washington Departments of Ecology & Commerce Recycling Development Center (RDC) see details in Chapter 1

Finally, Ecology's Solid Waste Management program conducts some activities that influence processes across recycling collection, sorting, and end markets, such as:

- Creating State Solid and Hazardous Waste Plan
- Implementing recycling-related regulations (including product-specific programs for electronics, mercury-containing lightbulbs, paint, and solar panels)
- Conducting studies and producing reports on recycling-related topics
- Providing financial assistance to local governments and non-profits

Appendix 3: RDC Goals and Draft Success Metrics

In July 2020 the RDC advisory board approved organizational goals and draft success metrics, which we reproduce below.¹¹²

Goals

- Develop local and regional markets and processing for Washington's recyclable products and materials to be transformed or remanufactured into usable or marketable products for use other than landfill disposal or incineration. This work will:
 - Encourage waste prevention and emphasize reuse before materials enter the waste stream; and
 - Initially focus on traditional recyclables, like mixed waste paper and plastics, with potential for use as industrial or commercial feedstocks; and phase into other materials that comprise a significant percentage of the waste stream; and
 - Ensure materials are marketable by looking both upstream (product design for recyclability and reduced toxic content), midstream (reduced contamination of recyclable materials), and downstream (processing that enables responsible recycling); and
 - Ensure/Encourage that products marketed in Washington incorporate post-consumer recycled content; and
 - Facilitate connections and exchange of information across all sectors of the circular economy – including research, innovation, and policy; and
 - Increase awareness of recycling's impact and a resulting thriving circular economy.
- Support equitable economic growth by attracting outside funding and analyzing, attracting, and supporting existing and new Washington-based businesses that enable reuse of products, packaging and other materials before they enter the waste stream, process recyclable waste materials into valuable commodities and products, use recycled content, and create local jobs, while ensuring that a social justice lens and a triple bottom line approach is applied throughout.
- Assess and adapt innovative technologies, such as new Material Recovery Facility (MRF) technologies, sorting processes, or new ways of addressing mixed plastics, and promote those that meet criteria acceptable to the board, including pilot-scale efforts.
- Collaborate with manufacturers and producers of packaging and other potentially reusable or recyclable materials to increase the ability of their packaging and products to be reduced, reused or recyclable.
- Evaluate, analyze and recommend state policies that positively affect markets for recyclable materials.
- Collect recycled materials end use data from material recovery facility (MRF) operators; public and private sector recycling and solid waste industries; manufacturers and retailers.
- Work in partnership with product and packaging producers and other regional partners on a pilot project that demonstrates a pathway for a specific material, showing all stages of the supply chain using a circular economy model.

Draft Success Metrics

We will know we made a difference if we have:

- Increased business use of recycled plastic or paper material Worked with 10 new or existing businesses in Washington to manufacture products using plastic or paper recyclable materials, in five years.
- Increased business use of other recycled material and reusable products Worked with 10 new or existing businesses in Washington to increase use of reusable or recyclable materials, in five years.
- Increased reusability/recyclability of manufactured products Worked with 15 manufacturers (or their associations) to make their products reusable or recyclable (design changes), in five years.
- Increased purchasing of products with recycled content Worked with 10 manufacturers, government agencies, or institutions to implement purchasing preferences for products with recycled content, in five years.
- Recommended policy changes Supported policies to improve recycling examples: product stewardship for specific products, bottle deposit program, improved labeling for recyclability – in five years.
- Completed a pilot project or initiative with packaging or other product producers, within five years, that demonstrates that creating sustainable markets is possible or has fostered/enhanced/built markets for mixed waste papers or plastics or has created a template for how to create more sustainable markets for this material.
- Collaborated with other recycling development centers, regional partners and other stakeholders so that our successes are amplified rather than duplicative or competitive.
- Increased total amount of material recycled locally/regionally (relative to the percentage exported) Percentage of recyclable materials that are primary/secondary processed and responsibly recycled into new transformed or remanufactured into usable or marketable products within the state or region increased by 50 percent, in five years.
- Injected economic growth and innovative technologies into Washington and the region's recycling and processing capacity by increasing capital investment (by 50 percent) and job creation rate (by 50 percent), in five years.
- Reduced the amount of recyclable material going to the landfill by at least 50 percent in five years, relative to 2015, as measured by the State Waste Characterization reports, including reductions created both by increased recycling and decreased waste generation (e.g., reusable packaging) strategies.
- Reduced pulp and paper mill residuals using recycled products as raw material by 50 percent in five years.

Appendix 4: Interview Protocol

Interview Introduction Protocol

Below we provide our introduction protocol, which includes information about our research project, disclosed difficult interview topics, requested consent to record, disclosed risks of personal identification, requested consent for distribution of results, and informs interviewees of their right to stop the interview at any time.

Spoken verbiage is in bold, with directions to the interviewer provided in plain text.

My name is [insert name] and my colleague who will be taking notes during this interview is [insert name]. We are part of a student team from the Evans School of Public Policy at the University of Washington. As we have previously shared, we are working with the Washington State Department of Ecology's Recycling Development Center to study how similar organizations use metrics and other criteria to inform their work.

We may ask follow-up questions and see where the conversation takes us, but generally we're planning to ask you the questions we sent via email. Some questions will touch on challenges your organizations have faced and how they have responded to these challenges.

As mentioned in our email, we would like to record this interview to aid in analysis. We will use voice-to-text software to create a transcript of the interview. This recording and the transcripts will be destroyed after our final report is made available. You may also ask us to delete the recording of this interview and the associated transcript at any time.

- May we record this interview?
- If consent to record is provided: We have started recording. All meeting participants have consented to this recording. Any participant may ask to stop or delete the recording at any time.

Our final report will be made publicly available through the Washington Department of Ecology publishing process. It will be shared widely across recycling market development organizations and future students. Our final report will contain narratives detailing the practices of each organization we are interviewing, as well as appendices containing information related to specific metrics and other criteria discussed. Although your name may not be included in the report, RDC knows who we are interviewing at each organization. Please let us know if there are particular pieces of information you are sharing that you would not like to appear in your organization's narrative, but that we may use in summarizing cross-organizational insights with no identifiable information for you or your organization.

- May we include quotations from this interview in our final report and attribute them to you and/or your organization?
- May we include quotations from this interview in our final report if we do not attribute them to you and/or your organization?

You may ask me questions about the interview or choose to stop the interview at any time.

Interview Questions

Below we include a generic version of our interview questions that has not been customized for a specific organization. For nonprofits and consulting organizations, we reframed these questions to ask about their observations of the governmental recycling programs they had advised, seeking cross-organizational insights.

Spoken verbiage is in bold, with directions to the interviewer provided in plain text.

- 1. Tell us about your role in your organization.
- 2. What quantitative data/metrics has your organization gathered to inform its operations and priorities for market development?
 - a. For organizations with published reports, focus the discussion on metrics not included in these reports.
 - b. Potential follow-up probes include:
 - i. Volume: Current disposal rates of materials and potential for landfill diversion
 - ii. Environmental Factors: Potential for GHG emissions reduction or toxicity reduction related to materials or activities
 - iii. Economic Factors: Potential monetary value, job creation, or tax revenue related to certain materials or activities; direct, indirect, and induced economic impacts; costs associated with addressing particular material streams; regional commodity prices
- 3. What qualitative factors has your organization used to inform its operations and priorities for market development?
 - a. For organizations with published reports, focus the discussion on metrics not included in these reports.
 - b. Potential follow-up probes include:
 - i. Feasibility of certain projects (in terms of staff time and budget required)
 - ii. Level of community/commercial interest in certain materials or activities
 - iii. Influence of local industries
 - iv. Directives or priorities from department leadership, city leadership, state legislature, or other external entities
 - v. Regional values & characteristics
 - vi. Alignment with funding opportunities
 - vii. Equity considerations
- 4. How has your organization used the factors you provided in the first two questions to decide how to prioritize certain recyclable materials or market development activities?
 - a. How did you weigh each factor and why?
 - b. Which factors are a higher or lower priority for your organization, and why?
- 5. How has your organization used these metrics and factors to monitor specific market development projects, assess organizational direction, justify funding requests, or communicate with different audiences?
- 6. Have you collected any information you have not used? If so, why?
 - a. Potential follow-up probes include:
 - i. Data perspective was too narrow

- ii. Data wasn't as useful as anticipated
- iii. Insufficient processes in place to act on data
- 7. Have you made decisions that conflicted with information you collected?
 - a. Were there other factors that outweighed information you initially thought would be the most pertinent?
- 8. What challenges and roadblocks have you faced in developing evaluative criteria and processes for your organization, and how did you overcome them?
 - a. Is there any data you don't have that you would like to have?
- 9. Have your program goals changed since inception? If so, how?
 - a. Has your use of data changed in response or to contribute to those changes?
- 10. What other organizations have you learned from, looked to as role models, or think we could learn from as we continue this project?
 - a. Are there individuals at these organizations who you would recommend we reach out to?

Interview Closing Protocol

Below we provide our closing protocol, which includes expressions of gratitude, a reminder of the interviewee's rights to the content of their interview, and an explanation of next steps in our engagement with the interviewee's organization.

Spoken verbiage is in bold, with directions to the interviewer provided in plain text.

Thank you for meeting with us – we appreciate it! If you have any questions or if you'd like to change or remove any of your responses, feel free to contact us.

For centers:

• We are going to reflect on the information you shared today and then send you a followup survey. The main purpose of the survey is to find out what data sources you used to generate various quantitative metrics, but we may also include a few other follow-up questions.

For other organizations:

• We may send you a follow-up survey.

In the meantime, if you think of anything else we didn't cover today, please don't hesitate to email us. Thank you again for speaking with us today and sharing your insights on recycling market development and related decision-making processes.

Appendix 5: Themes and Codes Used for Interview Analysis

- Theme: Actions, Activities, and Decisions
 - Definition: Types of organizational activities, actions, and decisions.
 - Associated Codes:
 - Advocacy and Legislative Engagement
 - Definition: References to advocating for a particular policy, deciding policies to advocate for, and legislative lobbying or testimony.
 - Examples: Meeting with legislators, policy prioritization
 - Capital Investment Decisions
 - Definition: References to capital investment decisions.
 - Examples: Choosing to build a state-owned facility, land purchases or sales
 - Geographical Prioritization
 - Definition: References to prioritizing particular geographic areas for market development, program focus, or other engagement.
 - Examples: Programs for rural versus urban areas, focus on particular municipalities or counties
 - Grant Recipient Selection
 - Definition: References to selecting recipients of organizational grants or other monetary awards.
 - Examples: Grant award processes, business commendations
 - Material Prioritization
 - Definition: References to prioritizing certain types of materials in market development, program design, or similar.
 - Examples: Need for programs for particular materials, expansion of programs to particular materials
 - Program Provisioning Decisions
 - Definition: References to prioritizing provision of particular programs or program components. Excludes such decisions that fall under other codes in this theme.
 - Examples: Providing technical assistance instead of developing a grant program, enhancing educational materials instead of developing a business directory.
 - Progress and Accountability
 - Definition: References to evaluating and reporting on progress within teams or to oversight entities.
 - Sub-codes:
 - o External

- Definition: Reporting on progress to an external oversight entity. Excludes general progress reports to the public or sharing progress with partners.
- Examples: Annual legislative progress reports, monthly advisory board check-ins
- o Internal
 - Definition: References to evaluating progress within the organization.
 - Examples: Quarterly project assessments, annual reviews
- Public Relations
 - Definition: References to efforts by the organization to influence or engage with external entities.
 - Sub-Codes:
 - o Demonstrate Impact
 - Definition: References to public relations efforts to demonstrate organizational impact or progress over time. Excludes formal accountability and progress reporting to oversight entities.
 - Examples: Advertising campaign about improved diversion rates or new jobs attracted to the state.
 - Education
 - Definition: References to educational activities targeting general recycling knowledge or behavioral change.
 - Examples: Flyers about correct sorting behaviors, seminars on the importance of recycling
 - Influence a Stakeholder, Non-Advocacy
 - Definition: References to efforts to influence the behavior of a stakeholder. Excludes advocacy efforts. Excludes purely educational efforts.
 - Examples: Recruit a new business to a state
 - o General
 - Definition: General discussions of public relations and optics or references to specific public relations activities not covered in the above categories.
 - Examples: How a program will make the organization appear, efforts to make an organization appear more business-friendly
- Supply Chain Prioritization

- Definition: References to prioritizing engagement or program development with a certain portion of the supply chain.
- Examples: Choosing to prioritize a program because of its involvement with consumers, MRFs, other processors, product manufacturers, transportation firms, etc.
- Technological and Process Innovation
 - Definition: References to developing or implementing new processes or technologies.
 - Examples: Installing better sorting technology in hauling trucks, processing enhancements
- Other
 - Definition: References to organizational activities, priorities, or decisions not covered in the above codes.
- Theme: Data and Factor Difficulties
 - Definition: Challenges organizations face with quantitative or qualitative factors.
 - Associated Codes:
 - Comparison Challenges
 - Definition: References to metrics used to compare a given phenomenon being difficult to compare with each other.
 - Examples: Measurements are inconsistent, multiple ways to measure similar attributes, use of different time frames, noisy or volatile data, changing needs and definitions over time
 - Data Privacy
 - Definition: References to concerns about data privacy.
 - Examples: Ensuring individual data is deidentified, ensuring confidentiality, tension between reporting requirements and privacy desired by providers
 - Inaccurate Data
 - Definition: References to collected data being inaccurate. Excludes references to incomplete data.
 - Examples: Data is double counted, data is not trustworthy, accuracy verification is difficult
 - Incomplete Data
 - Definition: References to collected data being incomplete or to data being difficult to collect.
 - Examples: No requirements to report data; missing data from certain entities, timeframes, or areas; another entity does not collect or will not share data
 - Logistical Challenges

- Definition: References to implementation challenges with data collection and maintenance of data stores.
- Examples: tracking replies, current events introducing constraints to methodological design, extensive time necessary for data management, long periods between repeat collections
- Tension Between Quantitative and Qualitative Factors
 - Definition: References to qualitative and quantitative factors coming into conflict when used in the context of organizational activities and decisions.
 - Examples: Economic metrics suggest a different path forward from past organizational experience.
- Quantitative Fluency
 - Definition: References to stakeholder or staff difficulty in understanding quantitative analyses, metrics, or other uses of numbers.
 - Examples: Confusing averages with actuals, stakeholders not reading quantitative analyses
- Other
 - Definition: References to data related challenges not falling into the other codes in this theme.
- Theme: Data and Factor Presentation
 - \circ $\;$ Definition: Ways in which data and factors are presented or shared.
 - Associated Codes:
 - Formal Report or White Paper
 - Definition: References to formal reports or white papers.
 - Examples: Agency publications, commissioned studies, academic publications, white papers
 - Narratives and Case Studies
 - Definition: References to use of narratives or case studies. Excludes specific examples or anecdotes interviewees provide.
 - Examples: case studies of similar programs to ones under consideration, use of narratives in stakeholder engagement
 - General
 - Definition: Mentions of other data and factor presentation mechanisms not mentioned above.
 - Examples: Visualizations, tables
- Theme: Factors and Metrics
 - Definition: Quantitative metrics and qualitative factors that interviewed organizations discussed. Includes such items that organizations mentioned in the context of their own practices and their clients' practices. Excludes mentions of related areas when

not being discussed as a contributing factor to organizational actions, priorities, or evaluation.

- Associated Codes:
 - Comprehensive Evidence:
 - Definition: References to experimental results or other forms of comprehensive evidence.
 - Examples: Pilot programs, commissioned studies.
 - Contamination
 - Definition: References to waste stream contamination and related metrics. Includes cross-contamination of trash, recycling, and organics streams, as well as contamination of specific recyclable waste streams by other recyclables. Includes contamination of a given recyclable waste stream by refuse that is not recyclable.
 - Examples: Contamination rate, cross-stream contamination rate.
 - Cost
 - Definition: References to cost of particular investments or programs without direct references to funding availability or source.
 - Examples: Relative cost of material processing, relative cost of different program alternatives, cost of collection.
 - Economic
 - Definition: Economic related metrics and factors, excluding material pricing.
 - Examples: Direct, indirect, and induced jobs; business creation; overall economic impact; State Gross Product; supply and demand ratios; tax revenue
 - Environmental
 - Definition: References to associated environmental benefits or costs.
 - Examples: Energy savings, emission reductions, litter reductions, air quality changes, toxics produced, material transport related emissions.
 - Equity and Environmental Justice
 - Definition: References to equity and environmental justice. Includes both specific factors and unspecific references to broad ideas.
 - Examples: Race of business owners, relative job creation by income bracket, environmental justice assessments.
 - Funding
 - Definition: References to funding related factors.
 - Examples: Funding source, amount of funding available, grant directives, newly available funding, funding already used.
 - Gut Instinct

- Definition: References to a perceived belief that program, initiative, or decision will result in the desired outcome.
- Examples: Knowledge from past experience, believability, perceived likelihood of success.
- Internal Logistics and Feasibility
 - Definition: References to logistical factors and feasibility internal to recycling development centers, excluding references to funding.
 - Sub-codes:
 - o General
 - Definition: References to logistical factors and feasibility, excluding references to funding and staffing.
 - Examples: Sorting and processing complexity, necessity of repeating actions multiple times, actions easily facilitated by existing programs.
 - Staffing
 - Definition: References to the impact of staffing considerations.
 - Examples: Staff expertise, staff time, staffing level
- Landscape and Lifecycle Analysis
 - Definition: References to aspects of the recycling market landscape and supply chain.
 - Sub-codes:
 - Location of Businesses and Markets
 - Definition: References to the presence of local, state, regional, and larger markets and businesses that may impact the supply chain post recyclable collection. Includes references to entities outside the jurisdiction of the organization, including in bordering states and municipalities. Includes discussions of types and capacities of such processors. Includes references to gaps in current processing.
 - Examples: Where textile manufacturers are located, maps of all businesses using recycled materials in a given area
 - Other Contributing Factors
 - Definition: References to other factors contributing to the geographic and supply chain landscape of recycling markets. Includes references to the availability of land, labor markets, and appropriate material transport.

- Examples: Material stockpiling, rail access, trucks available, road quality, land cost, transport distance.
- Material Prices
 - Definition: Factors pertaining to the price of recycled and recyclable materials.
 - Examples: Material price, comparison of virgin and recycled material prices, price volatility, negative pricing
- Network Factors
 - Definition: References to relationships and connections between entities. Excludes explicit inward influence as included in the Stakeholder Influence sub-codes, below. Includes references to opportune connections and relationships.
 - Examples: Making use of programs provided by other entities, ability to engage with new partners or businesses, opportunity for positive positioning with related entities, making connections at conferences
- Obligatory Directives
 - Definition: References to directives the organization is mandated to follow.
 - Sub-codes
 - o Mandate
 - Definition: Directives originating in law, regulation, or contract terms. Excludes restrictions due to funding source, for example, references to rate-payer funding, tax-payer funding, donations, etc.
 - Examples: Founding legislation, regulation, state laws or code, landfill bans, jurisdiction, governing legislative body decisions
 - Mission or Goal, General or from Unspecified Source
 - Definition: References to organizational mission or goals, without specifying a source for these goals.
 - Examples: Project targets, engagement goals
 - Organizational Hierarchy, Structure, and Plans
 - References to organizational hierarchy or directives arising due to organizational structure and planning processes.
 - Examples: Mandatory advisory board directives, agency directives, general references to management, references to comprehensive or agency plans.
- Performance of Related Initiatives
- Definition: References to how initiatives similar to those under consideration have performed.
- Sub-Codes:
 - Outside Organization
 - Definition: How related initiatives have performed when instituted by another organization.
 - Examples: Case studies of other organizations, opportunity to learn from other organizations, comparison to another organization.
 - Within Organization
 - Definition: How related activities have performed when instituted by the organization. Excludes pilot programs.
 - Examples: Expansion of program based on past successes, expanding to a new material, explicit references to past internal initiatives.
- Policy Windows and Timing
 - Definition: References to timing for a particular initiative or engagement. Includes references to opportune or inopportune alignment of organizational and external factors.
 - Examples: Budget and planning cycles, changing federal leadership, current events, legislative momentum.
- Program Participation
 - Definition: Participation level in a program by the target group or other groups.
 - Examples: Number of businesses using agency provided directories, number of residents participating in curbside recycling, number of attendees at educational programs
- Recycling Volume
 - Definition: References to volume, weight, or amount of recyclables or other waste streams. Includes references to metrics dependent on waste stream amounts, including total sales and penetration into target markets for specific recycled materials. Includes different data slices and aggregates, for instance total, per capita, per geographic area, per material, reductions, increases, etc. Includes references to diversion.
 - Examples: Diversion, collection, processing, tonnage.
- Stakeholder Influence
 - Definition
 - Sub-codes:
 - \circ Business or Community Group

- Definition: References to influence from trade organizations, business associations, community groups, or similar.
- Examples: Community group advocacy, industry organization influence on center direction
- General Public
 - Definition: References to members of the general public influencing agency actions.
 - Examples: Focus groups, listening sessions, public comment periods, citizen commissions.
- Related Government Entity
 - Definition: References to influence from other government entities or participants.
 - Examples: Feedback from county-level officials, crossagency goal alignment, optional advisory board suggestions.
- Supply Chain or Related Business, Single
 - Definition: References to influence from supply chain entities or recycling related businesses.
 - Examples: Phone calls, aligning goals with business partners, interest in certain materials from processors.
- o Other
 - Definition: Influence from stakeholders not fitting into above categories. Includes general references to stakeholder influence.
- Other
 - Definition: References to factors not included in the above categories.
- Theme: Other Challenges
 - Definition: Challenges organizations face that are not directly related to data
 - Associated Codes:
 - Conflicting Goals in a Highly Political Environment
 - Definition: References to related entities having goals at odds with each other when there is pressure to appear aligned.
 - Examples: Differing approaches at state and county level, differing political positions of state population and population of a major municipality
 - New Insight Changes Direction
 - Definition: New information leads to changes in decisions or programs after initial decision-making. Excludes results of pilot programs.
 - Examples: Implementation challenges, new study released

- Planning Tool Support
 - Definition: References to inadequate support for tools provided for organizational planning, programming or decision-making or such tools being challenging to use.
 - Examples: Equity or environmental assessments not sufficiently explained to planning teams
- Other
 - Definition: References to organizational challenges not included in above codes.
- Theme: Process Components
 - Definition: Organizational processes and subprocesses related to decision-making, program design, or similar
 - Associated Codes:
 - Collaborative Forum
 - Definition: References to facilitated forums for engagement with specific stakeholders.
 - Examples: Industry round tables, inter-governmental conferences
 - Formalized Ranking System
 - Definition: References to processes designed to rank alternatives according to a points-based or other mathematical system.
 - Examples: Grant rubrics
 - No or Limited Processes
 - Definition: Explicit references to absence of formal processes for decision-making, program design, or similar.
 - Example: Lack of an environmental justice review, statement that decisions happen on the fly
 - Planning Process and Documents
 - Definition: References to formal planning processes and related documents
 - Example: Development of agency comprehensive or strategic plans, quarterly reviews
 - General
 - Definition: References to processes that do not fit into the above codes.
- Additional Codes Used:
 - o Data Desired
 - Definition: References to a type of data or a specific metric being desired by the organization either generally or for a specific use.
 - Explicit Example
 - Definition: Places where the interviewee supplied an anecdote or specific example.

- o Explicit Goal
 - Definition: Reference to an organizational or client goal.
- o Is Quantitative
 - Definition: Reference to a quantitative metric or factor.
- Not Effective
 - Definition: References to a specific metric, factor, process, or practice being ineffective in a specific instance or generally.
- o Not Used
 - Definition: References to a specific metric, factor, process, or practice not being used in a specific instance or generally.

¹ Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 70A.240.030: Recycling development center—Creation—Purpose and duties— Report to the legislature and governor—Interagency agreement—Rules, Washington State Legislature, https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=70A.240.030, accessed May 26 2023.

² Ibid.

³ Dave Bennett, "\$500,000 to Help Beat Back the Recycling Crisis: New Ecology Program Gives One-Time Grants to Build Local Recycling Markets," Ecology *Blog*, Washington Department of Ecology, March 9 2021, <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Blog/Posts/March-2021/A-\$500,000-investment-to-help-beat-back-the-recycl</u>, accessed on May 26 2023.

⁴ Work Plan for 2022-2024, Washington Recycling Development Center, June 2022, https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/WorkPlan-June2022.pdf, accessed on May 26 2023.

⁵ David W. Pearce and R. Kerry Turner, *Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment,* John Hopkins University Press: Baltimore MD, 1989.

⁶ What is a Circular Economy? Ellen MacArthur Foundation, (n.d.), <u>https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/topics/circular-economy-introduction/overview</u>, accessed on February 10, 2023; *S. 1982 - Save Our Seas 2.0 Act*, 116th Congress, December 18, 2020, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/1982/text</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁷ "Re+ (Zero Waste)," King County, (n.d.), <u>https://kingcounty.gov/en/depts/dnrp/waste-services/garbage-recycling-</u> <u>compost/solid-waste-programs/re-plus</u>, accessed on March 28, 2023.

⁸ The Circular Economy: Moving from Theory to Practice, McKinsey Center for Business and Environment, 2016, https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Business%20Functions/Sustainability/Our%20Insights/The%20circular%20econo my%20Moving%20from%20theory%20to%20practice/The%20circular%20economy%20Moving%20from%20theory%20to%20prac tice.ashx, accessed on May 26, 2023; Ellen MacArthur Foundation.

⁹ Harry Lehmann, Christoph Hinske, Victoire de Margerie, and Aneta Slaveikova Nikolova, (Eds.), *The Impossibilities of the Circular Economy: Separating Aspirations from Reality* (1st ed.), Routledge, 2022. <u>https://360dialogues.com/360portfolios/ce-impossibilities</u>.

¹⁰ Pere Llorach-Massana, Ramon Farreny, and Jordi Oliver-Solà, Are Cradle to Cradle Certified Products Environmentally Preferable – Analysis from an LCA Approach, *Journal of Cleaner Production, 93*, 2015, pp. 243–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.032</u>.

¹¹ Lehmann et al.

¹² Circular Economy Action Plan, European Commission, European Union, 2020, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/environment/circular-economy/pdf/new_circular_economy_action_plan.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023; "Circular economy action plan," *Strategy*, European Commission, European Union, <u>https://environment.ec.europa.eu/strategy/circular-economy-action-plan_en</u>, accessed on March 28, 2023.

¹³ Circular Charlotte: Towards a Zero Waste and Inclusive City, City of Charlotte, Envision Charlotte, and <u>Metabolic</u>, September 2018,

https://charlottenc.gov/SWS/CircularCharlotte/Documents/Circular%20Charlotte_Towards%20a%20zero%20waste%20and%20in clusive%20city%20-%20full%20report.pdf, accessed on May 26, 2023.

¹⁴ Policy: Circular Economy, City of Amsterdam, (n.d.), <u>https://www.amsterdam.nl/en/policy/sustainability/circular-economy/</u>, accessed March 28, 2023.

¹⁵ "Re+ (Zero Waste)," King County, (n.d.), <u>https://kingcounty.gov/en/depts/dnrp/waste-services/garbage-recycling-</u> <u>compost/solid-waste-programs/re-plus</u>, accessed on March 28, 2023.

¹⁶ National Recycling Strategy: Part One of a Series on Building a Circular Economy for All, United States Environmental Protection Agency, November 15, 2021, <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-11/final-national-recycling-strategy.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

¹⁷ "The Butterfly Diagram: Visualising the Circular Economy," Ellen MacArthur Foundation, (n.d.), <u>https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/circular-economy-diagram</u>, accessed February 10, 2023.

¹⁸ Araujo Galvão, G.D., J. de Nadae, D.H. Clemente, G. Chinen, M.M. de Carvalho, "Circular Economy: Overview of Barriers," *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 73, 2019, pp. 79–85; Nan-Hua Nadja Yang, Ana Carolina Bertassini, Jéssica Alves Justo Mendes, & Mateus Cecílio Gerolamo, "The '3CE2CE' Framework—Change Management Towards a Circular Economy: Opportunities for Agribusiness", *Circular Economy and Sustainability*, Vol. 1, 2021, pp. 697–718; Mayara Regina Munaro and Sérgio Fernando Tavares, A review on barriers, drivers, and stakeholders towards the circular economy: The construction sector perspective, *Cleaner and Responsible Consumption*, Vol. 8, 2023.

¹⁹ Gina Lee, *The State of the Circular Economy in America: Trends, Opportunities, and Challenges,* Circular CoLab, 2018 <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5a6ca9a2f14aa140556104c0/t/5c7e8c8de5e5f08439d71784/1551797396989/US+CE+Stu</u> <u>dy_FINAL_2018.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

²⁰ Karen McVeigh, "Huge rise in US plastic waste shipments to poor countries following China ban," *The Guardian*, October 5, 2018, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2018/oct/05/huge-rise-us-plastic-waste-shipments-to-poor-countries-china-ban-thailand-malaysia-vietnam</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

²¹ Derek Kellenberg, "The Economics of the International Trade of Waste." *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, Volume 7, No. 1, 2015, pp. 109–25.

²² Leah LaCivita, "A Recycling Crisis in Washington?" Insight Blog, Municipal Research and Services Center, November 21, 2018, <u>https://mrsc.org/stay-informed/mrsc-insight/november-2018/a-recycling-crisis-in-washington</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

23 Ibid.

²⁴ Henry Grabar, "Recycling Isn't About the Planet. It's About Profit," *Slate,* April 5 2019, <u>https://slate.com/business/2019/04/recycling-dead-planet-profit-americans-commodities-china.html</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Benjamin Romano, "Some Seattle-area recycling dumped in landfills as China's restrictions kick in," *The Seattle Times,* March 29 2018, <u>https://www.seattletimes.com/business/some-seattle-area-recycling-dumped-in-landfills-as-chinas-restrictions-kick-in</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

²⁷ Aditya Vedantam, Nallan C. Suresh, Khadija Ajmal, and Michael Shelly. 2022. "Impact of China's National Sword Policy on the U.S. Landfill and Plastics Recycling Industry," *Sustainability*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 2022, pp. 2456.

²⁸ Recycling Markets Have Strongly Recovered since National Sword, Solid Waste Association of America, November, 2021, <u>https://swana.org/docs/default-source/resources-documents/arf-documents/recycling-markets-have-strongly-recovered-final.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

²⁹ Jessica Hieges and Kate O'Neill. "A Recycling Reckoning: How Operation National Sword Catalyzed a Transition in the U.S. Plastics Recycling System," *Journal of Cleaner Production* Vol. 378, No. 10, 2022.

³⁰ State of Washington Department of Ecology, *Recycling Development Center*, (n.d.) <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Waste-</u> <u>Toxics/Reducing-recycling-waste/Strategic-policy-and-planning/Recycling-Development-Center</u>, accessed on February 17, 2023. ³¹ Cole Rosengren, *How Recycling Has Changed in All 50 States*, Waste Dive, November 15, 2019, <u>https://www.wastedive.com/news/what-chinese-import-policies-mean-for-all-50-states/510751/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

³² John Ryan, "Seattle calls it recycling. China calls it "foreign garbage smuggling," KUOW, June 26, 2018, <u>https://www.kuow.org/stories/seattle-calls-it-recycling-china-calls-it-foreign-garbage-smuggling/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

³³ Cole Rosengren, "Washington State Recycling Market Issues Finally Come into Focus," *Deep Dive Blog*, Waste Dive, April 3, 2019, <u>https://www.wastedive.com/news/washington-state-recycling-market-issues-finally-come-into-focus/520413/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

³⁴ Cole Rosengren, *How Recycling Has Changed*. Waste Dive. <u>https://www.wastedive.com/news/what-chinese-import-policies-mean-for-all-50-states/510751/</u>.

³⁵ Cole Rosengren, "Washington State Recycling Market Issues." Waste Dive. Retrieved May 6, 2023, from https://www.wastedive.com/news/washington-state-recycling-market-issues-finally-come-into-focus/520413/.

³⁶ Leah LaCivita, "A Recycling Crisis in Washington?" (n.d.). Mrsc.org. <u>https://mrsc.org/stay-informed/mrsc-insight/november-2018/a-recycling-crisis-in-washington</u>.

³⁷ Recycling Market Development in the United States – Looking Back and Looking Forward, RSE USA, January 2019, https://www.oregon.gov/deq/FilterDocs/recMarketDevReport.pdf, accessed on May 26, 2023.

³⁸ Jobs Through Recycling Program: What Is the Connection Between Jobs and Recycling? United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1997,

https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyNET.exe/10000LU8.txt?ZyActionD=ZyDocument&Client=EPA&Index=1995%20Thru%201999&Docs= &Query=&Time=&EndTime=&SearchMethod=1&TocRestrict=n&Toc=&TocEntry=&QField=&QFieldYear=&QFieldMonth=&QFieldD ay=&UseQField=&IntQFieldOp=0&ExtQFieldOp=0&XmlQuery=&File=D%3A%5CZYFILES%5CINDEX%20DATA%5C95THRU99%5CTXT %5C0000010%5C10000LU8.txt&User=ANONYMOUS&Password=anonymous&SortMethod=h%7C-&MaximumDocuments=1&FuzzyDegree=0&ImageQuality=r75g8/r15g8/r150y150g16/i425&Display=hpfr&DefSeekPage=x&Searc hBack=ZyActionL&Back=ZyActionS&BackDesc=Results%20page&MaximumPages=1&ZyEntry=4, accessed on May 26, 2023.

³⁹ RSE USA; Best Practices for State Recycling Market Development Centers, AMERIPEN and Resource Recycling Systems, Inc, 2021, <u>https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.ameripen.org/resource/resmgr/docs/smd-report-2021.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁴⁰ Julia Balogun, Annie Pye, and Gerard P. Hodgkinson, "Cognitively Skilled Organizational Decision Making: Making Sense of Deciding," in Gerard P. Hodgkinson and William H. Starbuck (ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Decision Making*, Oxford Academic, Online Edition, 2009, pp.233-249.

⁴¹ Julia Balogun, Pauline Gleadle, Veronica Hope Hailey, and Hugh Willmott, "Managing Change Across Boundaries: Boundary-shaking Practices," *British Journal of Management*, Vol. 16, No. 4, 2005, pp. 261-278; H. Kirk Downey, Don Hellriegel, and John Slocum, "Environmental Uncertainty: The Construct and Its Application," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 20, No. 4, 1975, pp. 613-629; John M. Mezias and William H. Starbuck, "Decision Making with Inaccurate, Unreliable Data," in Gerard P. Hodgkinson and William H. Starbuck (ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Decision Making*, Oxford Academic, Online Edition, 2009, pp. 76-96; R. L. Payne and D. S. Pugh, "Organizational Structure and Climate," in M. D. Dunnette (ed.), *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, Rand McNally, Chicago, 1976, pp. 1125-1173; Henry Tosi, Ramon Aldag, and Ronald Storey, "On the Measurement of the Environment: An Assessment of the Lawrence and Lorsch Environmental Uncertainty Subscale," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 18, No. 1, 1973, pp. 27-36.

⁴¹ Jonathan Haidt, "The Emotional Dog and its Rational Tail: A Social Intuitionist Approach to Moral Judgment," *Psychological Review*, Vol. 108, No. 4, 2001, pp. 814-834.

⁴² Jonathan Haidt, "The Emotional Dog and its Rational Tail: A Social Intuitionist Approach to Moral Judgment," *Psychological Review*, Vol. 108, No. 4, 2001, pp. 814-834.

⁴³ Sheri Chaney Jones, Impact and Excellence : Data-Driven Strategies for Aligning Mission, Culture and Performance in Nonprofit and Government Organizations, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, 2014.

44 Ibid.

⁴⁵ Minhi Hahn, Robert Lawson, and Young Gyu Lee, "The Effects of Time Pressure and Information Load on Decision Quality," *Psychology and Marketing*, Vol. 9, No. 5, 1992, pp. 365-378.

⁴⁶ Martha S. Feldman and James G. March, "Information in Organizations as Signal and Symbol," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 26, No. 2, 1981, pp. 171-186.

⁴⁷ Ibid; L. R. Beach, "Accuracy and Consistency in the Revision of Subjective Probabilities," IEEE Transactions on Human Factors in Electronics, Vol. HFE-7, No. 1, 1966, pp. 29-37; Institute for the Future, *Managing Corporate Communications in the Information Age*, The Institute for the Future, Menlo Park, CA, 1997; Z. J. Lipowski, "Sensory and Information Inputs Overload: Behavioral Effects," Comprehensive Psychiatry, Vol. 16, No. 3, 1975, pp. 199-221; Mezias and Starbuck; Paul C. Nystrom and William H. Starbuck, "To Avoid Organizational Crises, Unlearn," *Organizational Dynamics*, Vol. 12, No. 4, 1984, pp. 53-65; Stuart Oskamp, "Overconfidence in Case-Study Judgments," *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, Vol. 29, No. 3, 1965, pp. 261-265; L. D. Phillips, W. L. Hayes, and W. Edmards, "Conservatism in Complex Probabilistic Inference," IEEE Transactions on Human Factors in Electronics, Vol. HFE-7, No. 1, 1966, pp. 7-18; S. C. Schneider, "Information Overload: Causes and Consequences," *Human Systems Management*, Vol. 7, 1987, pp. 143-153; Paul Slovic, "Behavioral Problems of Adhering to a Decision Policy," paper presented at the Institute for Quantitative Research in Finance, Napa, CA, May 1, 1973.

⁴⁸ Maya Bar-Hillel, "On the Subjective Probability of Compound Events," *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, Vol. 9, 1973, pp. 396-406; Amos Tversky and Daniel Kahneman, "Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases," *Science*, Vol. 185, No. 4157, 1974, pp. 1124-1131.

⁴⁹ Lisa A. Burke and Monica K. Miller, "Taking the Mystery Out of Intuitive Decision Making," Academy of Management Executive, Vol. 13, No. 4, 1999, pp. 91-99; E. Dane and M. G. Pratt, "Exploring Intuition and Its Role in Managerial Decision Making," Academy of Management Review, Vol. 32, No. 1, 2007, pp. 33-54; Stephen H. Davis and Patricia B. Davis, *The Intuitive Dimensions of Administrative Decision Making*, R & L Education, 2003; Gerard P. Hodgkinson and Ian Clarke, "Exploring the Cognitive Significance of Organizational Strategizing: A Dual-Process Framework and Research Agenda," Human Relations, Vol. 60, No. 1, 2007, pp. 243-255; Robin M. Hogarth, *Educating Intuition*, Chicago University Press, Chicago, 2001; Gary Klein, *Sources of Power: How People Make Decisions*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1998; Gary Klein, *Intuition at Work*, Bantam Dell, New York, 2003; Naresh Khatri and H. Alvin Ng, "The Role of Intuition in Strategic Decision Making," *Human Relations*, Vol. 53, 2000, pp. 57-86; Roberta Muramatsu and Yaniv Hanoch, "Emotions as a Mechanism for Boundedly Rational Agents: The Fast and Frugal Way," *Journal of Economic Psychology*, Vol. 26, No. 2, 2005, pp. 2021-221; Arthur S. Reber, *Implicit Learning and Tacit Knowledge: An Essay on the Cognitive Unconscious*, Oxford University Press, New York, 1993; Eugene Sadler-Smith and Erella Shefy, "The Intuitive Executive: Understanding and Applying 'Gut Feel' in Decision-Making," *The Academy of Management* Executive, Vol. 18, No. 4, 2004, pp. 76-91; Eugene Sadler-Smith, *Inside Intuition*, Routledge, Abingdon, 2008; Marta Sinclair and Neal M. Ashkanasy, "Intuition: Myth or a Decision-Making Tool?" *Management Learning*, Vol. 36, No. 3, 2005, pp. 353-370.

⁵⁰ Theresa K. Lan, "Organizational Cognition and Interpretation," in Joel A. C. Baum (ed.), *The Blackwell Companion to Organizations*, Blackwell, Oxford, UK, pp. 344-362.

⁵¹ Donald P. Moynihan, "Goal-Based Learning and the Future of Performance Management," Public Administration Review, Vol. 65, No. 2, 2005, pp. 203-216.

⁵² Sheri Chaney Jones, Impact and Excellence : Data-Driven Strategies for Aligning Mission, Culture and Performance in Nonprofit and Government Organizations, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, 2014.

⁵³ George Wright and Paul Goodwin, "Structuring the Decision Process: An Evaluation of Methods," in Gerard P. Hodgkinson and William H. Starbuck (ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Decision Making*, Oxford Academic, Online Edition, 2009, pp. 534-551.

⁵⁴ Ralph L. Keeney, *Value-Focused Thinking: A Path to Creative Decision-Making*, Harvard University Press, London, 1992.

55 Ibid.

⁵⁶ Ibid; Wright and Goodwin.

⁵⁷ Craig A. Anderson, "Imagination and Expectation: The Effect of Imagining Behavioral Scripts on Personal Influences," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, Vo. 45, No. 2, 1983, pp. 293-305; John S. Carroll, "The Effect of Imagining an Event on Expectations for the Event: An Interpretation in Terms of the Availability Heuristic," *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, Vo. 14, No. 1, pp. 88-96; W. L. Gregory, R. B. Cialdini, and K. M. Carpenter, "Self-Relevant Scenarios as Mediators of Likelihood Estimates and Compliance: Does Imagining Make it So?" *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, Vol. 43, No. 1, 1982, pp. 89-99.

⁵⁸ Liam Fahey and Robert M. Randall (eds.), *Learning from the Future: Competitive Foresight Scenarios*, Wiley, New York, 1998; Kristine M. Kuhn and Janet A. Sniezek, "Confidence and Uncertainty in Judgmental Forecasting: Differential Effects of Scenario Presentation," *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, Vol. 9, 1996, pp. 231-247; Gill Ringland, *Scenario Planning: Managing for the Future*, Wiley, Chichester, 1998; Paul J. H. Schoemaker, "Multiple Scenario Development: Its Conceptual and Behavioral Foundation," *Strategic Management Journal*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 1993, pp. 193-213; Peter Schwartz, *The Art of the Long View: Planning for the Future in an Uncertain World*, Currency Doubleday, New York, 1991; Kees van der Heijden, *Scenarios: The Art of Strategic Conversation*, John Wiley, Chicester, 1996.

⁵⁹ Roger Buehler, Dale Griffin, and Michael Ross, "Exploring the 'Planning Fallacy': Why People Underestimate Their Task Completion Times," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, Vol. 67, No. 3, 1994, pp. 366-381; Paul J. H. Schoemaker, "When and How to Use Scenario Planning: A Heuristic Approach with Illustration," *Journal of Forecasting*, Vol. 10, 1991, pp. 549-564; Amos Tversky and Daniel Kahneman, "Availability – Heuristic for Judging Frequency and Probability," *Cognitive Psychology*, Vol. 5, 1973, pp. 207-232; Ibid, "Extensional Versus Intuitive Reasoning: The Conjunction Fallacy in Probability Judgment," *Psychological Review*, Vol. 90, 1983, pp. 293-315.

⁶⁰ Hal R. Arkes, "Costs and Benefits of Judgment Errors: Implications for Debiasing," *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 110, No. 3, 1991, pp. 486-498; Derek J. Koehler, "Explanation, Imagination, and Confidence in Judgment," *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 110, No. 3, 1991, pp. 499-519; Ibid, "Hypothesis Generation and Confidence in Judgment," Journal of Experimental Psychology, Learning Memory, and Cognition, Vol. 20, 1994, ppl. 461-469.

⁶¹ Anne T. McCartt and John Rohrbaugh, "Evaluating Group Decision Support System Effectiveness: A Performance Study of Decision Conferencing," *Decision Support Systems*, Vol. 5, No. 2, 1989, pp. 342-253.

⁶² Kathleen M. Sutcliffe and Timothy J. Vogus, "Organizing for Resilience," in Kim S. Cameron, Jane E. Dutton, and Robert E. Quinn (ed.), *Positive Organizational Scholarship: Foundations of a New Discipline*, Berrett-Koehler, San Francisco, 2002, pp. 94-110; Mezias and Starbuck.

63 Ibid.

⁶⁴ John M. Mezias and William H. Starbuck, "Decision Making with Inaccurate, Unreliable Data," in Gerard P. Hodgkinson and William H. Starbuck (ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Decision Making*, Oxford Academic, Online Edition, 2009, pp. 76-96

65 Ibid.

66 Ibid.

⁶⁷ United States Environmental Protection Agency, National Recycling Strategy.

⁶⁸ 2020-2021 Washington Statewide Waste Characterization Study, Washington Department of Ecology, August 2021. <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2107026.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023. ⁶⁹ Waste Generation and Recovery Data (2018), Washington State Department of Ecology, 2018, <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Asset-Collections/Doc-Assets/Solid-waste/Solid-waste-recycling-data/WasteGenerationAndRecovery-</u> 2018, accessed on May 31, 2023.

⁷⁰ Measuring Waste Generation and Recovery in Washington: Methodology 2017 and Beyond, Washington State Department of Ecology, July 2021, <u>https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2107025.pdf</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

⁷¹ Calculating a Recycling Rate, Michigan Department of Environmental Quality, (n.d.), <u>https://www.michigan.gov/-</u> /media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Groups/SWRA/Calculating-Recycling-<u>Rate.pdf?rev=c25e6b32d9df418d84c50d8124689c8a#:~:text=Proposed%20Section%2011505(4)%20defines,included%20in%20th</u> <u>e%20recycling%20rate</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

⁷² Cody Marshall and McKenna Morrigan, "Start at the Cart", *Resource Recycling*, April 4, 2018, <u>https://resource-recycling.com/recycling/2018/04/02/start-at-the-cart/</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

⁷³ Washington State Department of Ecology, Waste Generation and Recovery Data.

⁷⁴ Alexander Morse, "Where Does Our Garbage Go?" *Rockefeller Institute of Government Blog*, Rockefeller Institute of Government, September 2019, <u>https://rockinst.org/blog/where-does-our-garbage-go/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

75 Ibid.

76 Ibid.

⁷⁷ 2019 Recycling Industry Yearbook, Institute of Scrap Recycling Industries, 2019, <u>http://www.scrap2.org/yearbook/11/#zoom=z</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁷⁸ "Waste Reduction Model," United States Environmental Protection Agency, (n.d.), <u>https://www.epa.gov/warm</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁷⁹ Recycling Information (REI) Report, United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2020, <u>https://www.epa.gov/smm/recycling-economic-information-rei-</u> <u>report#:~:text=The%20Recycling%20Economic%20Information%20(REI,wages%20and%20government%20tax%20revenue,</u> accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁸⁰ IMPLAN, https://implan.com/, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁸¹ Indiana Recycling Infrastructure and Economics Study, Indiana Department of Environmental Management, July 2021, <u>https://www.in.gov/idem/recycle/resources/recycling-infrastructure-and-economics-</u>study/?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁸² "UN calls for urgent rethink as resource use skyrocket," United Nations Environmental Program, March 12 2019, <u>https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/press-release/un-calls-urgent-rethink-resource-use-skyrockets</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁸³ "A Guide to Plastic in the Ocean," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, last updated January 27 2022, <u>https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/hazards/marinedebris/plastics-in-the-ocean.html</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁸⁴ Fedra Vanhuyse, Emir Fejzic, Daniel Ddiba, and Maryna Henrysson, "The Lack of Social Impact Considerations in Transitioning Towards Urban Circular Economies: A Scoping Review," *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. 75, 2021.

⁸⁵ Circular Economy and Health: Opportunities and Risks, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, 2018, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342218, accessed on May 10, 2023.

⁸⁶ Vanhuyse et al.

⁸⁷ Goals for the Recycling Development Center, Washington Recycling Development Center, 2020, https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/2020-July-GoalsMetricsApproved.pdf, accessed on May 10, 2023.

⁸⁸ Center Priority Decision Matrix, Washington Recycling Development Center, 2023, <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/EZ-CenterPriorityDecisionMatrix.xlsx</u>, accessed on May 10, 2023.

⁸⁹ Joseph C. Hermanowicz, "The Great Interview: 25 Strategies of Studying People in Bed," *Qualitative Sociology*, Vol. 25, No. 4, 2002, pp. 479-499.

⁹⁰ Washington State Legislature, *Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 70A.240.030*.

⁹¹ Request for Proposals: 2023 Michigan Recycling Infrastructure and Small Community Education Grants, Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, 2023, <u>https://www.michigan.gov/egle/-</u> /media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Programs/MMD/Recycling/FY23-Recycling-Infrastructure-and-Small-Ed-Grants-RFP.pdf?rev=b6fc67f68ca449c092286374c6d8a6dc&hash=D00D52DF46E8883DD193C034DCD0CEAD, accessed on May 31 2023.

⁹² *EJ Screen*, United States Environmental Protection Agency, (n.d.), <u>https://ejscreen.epa.gov/mapper/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹³ 2020 State Solid Waste Management Plan, Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, October 2019. https://epa.ohio.gov/static/Portals/34/document/general/state_plan_.pdf, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹⁴ Burns & McDonnell and Circular Matters, *Recycling Market Development Plan*, Texas Commission on Environmental Quality, August 2021, <u>https://www.tceq.texas.gov/downloads/p2/recycling/recyclable-materials/2021-recycling-market-development-plan.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹⁵ "Existing Industry: 46 Years Later, S.C. has Become a Leader in the Tire Industry," South Carolina Department of Commerce, February 14 2019, <u>https://www.sccommerce.com/newsletter/existing-industry-46-years-later-sc-has-become-leader-tire-industry</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹⁶ Solid Waste Policy Report, Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, December 2019, <u>https://www.pca.state.mn.us/sites/default/files/lrw-sw-1sy19.pdf</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹⁷ 2021 SCORE (Select Committee On Recycling and the Environment) Report, Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, last updated Mar 29 2023,

https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/mpca.data.services/viz/2021SCOREReport/2021SCOREreport?:tabs=n, accessed on May 26, 2023.

⁹⁸ Materials Management in Oregon: 2020 Framework for Action, 2020, State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, <u>https://www.oregon.gov/deq/mm/Documents/mmFramework2020.pdf</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

⁹⁹ "How are Missouri Market Development Program applications scored?" Missouri Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority, November 2016,

https://eiera.mo.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2016/11/How-Missouri-Market-Development-Program-applications-arescored.pdf, accessed on May 23, 2023.

¹⁰⁰ CalRecycle DataCentral, State of California, 2023, <u>https://calrecycle.ca.gov/datacentral/</u>, accessed on May 10, 2023.

¹⁰¹ "Experts. Leaders. Partners." The Recycling Partnership, (n.d.), <u>https://recyclingpartnership.org/funding-partners/</u>, accessed on May 26, 2023.

¹⁰² Recycling Infrastructure in Washington State: Material Recovery Facilities and Paper and Plastic Reprocessors, King County, 2021, <u>https://kingcounty.gov/~/media/depts/dnrp/solid-waste/linkup/documents/recycling-infrastructure-WA-paper-plastic.ashx?la=en</u>.

¹⁰³ "Recyclable Paper," *Recyclable Material Series*, Washington Recycling Development Center, June 2021, <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/PaperPaper-FINAL.pdf</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

¹⁰⁴ "Glass Recycling," *Recyclable Material Series*, Washington Recycling Development Center, December 2021, <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/GlassPaper Final.pdf</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

¹⁰⁵ Plastic Company Map, Washington Recycling Development Center, (n.d.), <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/WAPlasticCompanyMap2022.xlsx</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

¹⁰⁶ Ellie Potts and Tony Peterson, *Report on Washington State Recycling: Part 1 - Recycling Companies and Revenue*, Washington Department of Ecology and Western Washington University, April 2023, <u>https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/ 1962/Documents/rdcab/2307011-WWU-StudyOnRecyclingCompaniesAndRevenue.pdf</u>, accessed on May 31, 2023.

¹⁰⁷ *Recycling Infrastructure and Market Opportunities Map*, United States Environmental Protection Agency, (n.d.), <u>https://www.epa.gov/circulareconomy/recycling-infrastructure-and-market-opportunities-map</u>, accessed May 29, 2023.

¹⁰⁸ Washington State Legislature, *Revised Code of Washington (RCW)* 70A.240.030.

109 Ibid.

¹¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹¹ World Health Organization, Circular Economy and Health: Opportunities and Risks.

¹¹² Washington Recycling Development Center, *Goals for the Recycling Development Center*.